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How do you tell a man that he will be killed tomorrow? Sotojiro Tatsuta confronted this question on the evening of Wednesday, October 14, 1942. He had just gotten off the phone with his boss in Nanking. As the warden of the Jiangwan Military Prison, the Japanese Army’s brig on the outskirts of Shanghai, this execution would be his responsibility.


Tatsuta gathered the three American prisoners who would soon hear this news together. Higher-ups had spared his five other Americans, who were still back in their cells. Only these three men would be shot through the head the next morning. Tatsuta’s job was to organize it all, and at this moment, his job was to tell them.


A skinny man with a gold tooth that tended to flash when he talked, Tatsuta was conflicted. Yes, these men were his enemies—or at least the enemies of Japan. Yes, they had been duly convicted of atrocities against his people. And yes, only these three men would have to die tomorrow, instead of all eight, thanks to the mercy of Emperor Hirohito. But these kinds of rationalizations, all perfectly good and reasonable, were hard to keep at the front of his mind as he looked at the still living, breathing, blinking young men—barely more than boys, really—whose every hope, dream, fear, ambition, and debt would be soon rendered moot. A single bullet was scheduled to break through their foreheads, scramble their brains, and leave nothing but paperwork. Tatsuta would inventory their belongings, and see to it that their bodies made it to the crematorium, and they would be gone.


Standing before them with his translator at his side, Tatsuta stalled with small talk. He showed some snapshots of his wife and kids back in Japan and they shared their own family photos. None was married, but William Farrow, who stood nearly a foot taller than Tatsuta, showed him the picture of a girl named Lib Sims. A lean six foot three with blond hair and a square jaw, Farrow had an all-American look that fit his earnestness. Lib, he said, was going to be his wife when he got back home.


The war had been raging for nearly a year. Japan was still on top, though its victory looked less certain than it had back in April, when these Americans had supposedly bombed Tokyo. They were his enemies. He was theirs. But sitting face-to-face, looking at the picture of a girl who would have to find someone else to marry, made the war rather remote.


When the eight Americans had been brought to Jiangwan two months earlier, Tatsuta had been told that they had attacked schools, temples, and hospitals in Japan, killing many civilians. To look at them, though, it was hard to believe. Something about the youngest of them, a nineteen-year-old sergeant by the name of Harold A. Spatz, couldn’t help but remind Tatsuta of his oldest son, who was just twenty-one years old and off fighting with the Japanese Army somewhere.


After chatting for a bit, all Tatsuta could bring himself to say was that “something might happen” tomorrow, and he gave the three of them some blank sheets of paper to write out their wills. He promised that if anything did happen, he would personally make sure that they were forwarded to the Red Cross. And he suggested that they also take the chance to write some letters home. He left for the night and, on his way out, told one of his men to give the three Americans some of the food he had bought in Shanghai so they could have a nice last meal.


Tatsuta’s translator, Caesar dos Remedios, stayed behind and, once Tatsuta was gone, put things more bluntly: the three of them, were being executed as war criminals. The letters home would be their last and it would be a good idea to give a little “top hat” to the Japanese about how good their treatment had been. Saying something nice would be seen as a good gesture and would help make things better for the other five Americans after they were gone.


Before Remedios left them to their final thoughts, Billy Farrow stopped him. Farrow emptied his pockets and gave the handful to Remedios. It was not much: a Social Security card, a Red Cross card, $110 in Bank of America traveler’s checks, and his photo of Lib. “I hope you might make use of them,” Farrow said.


The next morning, Tatsuta went out to the old Chinese cemetery, just outside the redbrick walls of the headquarters of Japan’s 13th Army, the “Noboru Unit,” where the overgrown grass was littered with lost golf balls from the links next door. Japanese military tradition called for a rope to be laid around the execution site to purify it. As his men planted three wooden crosses in a line, whose crossbars were about waist high, and placed straw mats at the foot of each cross, Tatsuta set up a small table for incense and flowers.


Once everything was ready, Tatsuta ordered his men to bring the three condemned Americans out to the cemetery, and before long a crowd gathered at the execution grounds. All sorts of people from the 13th Army came. Major Itsuro Hata, the prosecutor who had won the death sentences against the three men, was there to serve as the official witness, along with his clerk, a medical officer, and an interpreter. Senior officers from Japan’s secret police, the Kempeitai, had even driven the hour from Shanghai to attend. Everyone knew that this was a historic moment. These Americans were the first foreigners ever to succeed in attacking Japan. Everyone was there to see that Japan had not let them get away with it.


It was early evening, but still light out. The three young Americans were helped off the truck. The medical officer examined each man and pronounced him “physically sound” for execution. They were then led in a procession to the crosses that had been planted over the straw mats. Major Hata read the judgment against the three men aloud: William Farrow, Dean Hallmark, and Harold Spatz, enemy airmen, all found guilty of atrocities against civilians; sentenced to death. He then added a few consoling words and bowed deeply to them as a sign of respect.


A firing squad—three riflemen, three alternates, and three men to stand guard—assembled stiffly about thirty feet away. There was one bullet for each man. Tatsuta and his men then made Farrow, Hallmark, and Spatz kneel on the straw mats and tied each man by his forearms to the crossbar behind him. They knotted white handkerchiefs around their faces and painted a black mark on the point between each man’s eyes where the bullet was to go.


The commander of the firing squad called out, “Attention!”


The squad snapped to attention.


“Face the target!”


The squad turned crisply toward the three crosses.


The commander raised his arm.


“Prepare!”


The squad took up a squatting position and took aim at their targets. A moment passed.


The commander brought down his arm.


“Fire!”


The squad’s rifles let out a near-simultaneous crack that echoed in the air. Farrow, Hallmark, and Spatz slumped by their elbows.


The medical officer stepped forward to inspect each body and confirmed that two were dead. The third, though, still had a slight pulse.


The crowd waited awkwardly as the medical officer peeled fragments of sticky handkerchief from each man’s forehead and his assistants got to work cleaning their wounds, occasionally rechecking the one with the lingering pulse as they dabbed away the blood. After five minutes or so, the medical officer confirmed that the third man’s pulse was gone and pronounced them all dead.


Tatsuta instructed his men to untie the bodies from the crosses and load them into coffins. The bodies in the coffins were laid side by side and, amidst the streams of incense smoke, the assembled crowd gave a final salute before scattering for the evening.


Tatsuta got into his truck and drove back to his prison, leaving his men to cart the coffins to the crematorium. He went into the storeroom and ordered the clerk to bring him Farrow, Hallmark, and Spatz’s belongings. As he sorted through them, he picked up one of the bomber jackets and inspected the name tag: “D E HALLMARK.” It was a fine jacket, the famous A-2 flight jacket: good horsehide on the outside, insulated with cotton on the inside, and with a metal zipper all the way up the front with a flap to keep the draft out. A jacket like that was hard to come by, and Tatsuta thought it might make a good fishing jacket. It was too big for his slight frame, so he gave it to Caesar dos Remedios and told him to take it into Shanghai to have it tailored down. Tatsuta also wanted the name tag taken off.


Tatsuta’s thoughts turned to his remaining five American prisoners. Earlier that day, they had been informed that their lives had been spared thanks to the mercy of the emperor and that their sentences had been commuted to life imprisonment with “special treatment.” Winter was coming, and Tatsuta was considering letting them bunk together. He had kept them in solitary cells since their transfer to Jiangwan that August. That was according to the rules. But the raised wooden floors could get frigid and the ceilings were also quite high, which made the cells hard to keep warm. Tatsuta could also tell that the isolation was hard on them, and if the emperor had seen fit to show them a little mercy, why not do the same? They caused him no trouble. They were friendly, even. And they were, after all, Japan’s prisoners for life.







THE WITNESS
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ONE


Chase Jay Nielsen joined the US Army Air Corps as a flying cadet in 1939. For a twenty-two-year-old, it was a steady paycheck with a bit of glamour. Nielsen also had a head for numbers; he was always ready to impress a room with his ability to add large digits together without a paper and pencil. Being a flight navigator suited his natural talents, and the only real risks were the inevitable dangers that came with hurtling through the air in a machine whose basic concept had been perfected only thirty years earlier.


Now, though, there was a war on. Japan’s surprise attack on Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, had made Nielsen’s life more complicated, and not just because his dark hair, dark eyebrows, and swarthy complexion made it easy at first glance to mistake him for Japanese. Nielsen was engaged to marry a good Mormon girl by the name of Thora Ricks that December. Stationed with the Seventeenth Bomb Group in Pendleton, Oregon, the start of the war meant that Nielsen was stuck doing patrols along the Pacific Coast for enemy submarines at the very time he was supposed to be getting married. Undeterred, Thora made the trek all the way to Oregon to elope, which Nielsen could relish as a sign of her love and devotion despite the thousand miles between them. But it also made Nielsen a relative rarity for the flyboys of his generation. He was a husband.


In February, Nielsen and the rest of the Seventeenth Bomb Group received an enigmatic request: “Volunteers for a dangerous mission.” The request was worded perfectly to seduce restless men of a certain age, who in every generation are convinced that theirs is the first for whom the laws of mortality do not apply. Such men ruled the ranks of the Seventeenth Bomb Group, and Nielsen, though now a family man, was as unable to resist as the others. It was a difficult choice. Once married, Nielsen knew that a Mormon man’s first responsibility was always to his family, so he broke the news to Thora as gently as he could: he had a special assignment, and she might not hear from him for a while.


Nielsen soon found himself stationed at Eglin Field, near Pensacola, Florida, with more than 120 other flyboys from around the country who had been just as seduced by the prospect of such an enigmatic risk. No details were provided to explain the strange training regimen they were all being put through. But Nielsen could take comfort in knowing that any risks he would be asked to take were finely calculated ones. The man requesting volunteers was Jimmy Doolittle.





Short, balding, and bubbling over with energy, James H. Doolittle embodied the popular conception of the flyboy—lunatics with no sense of mortality who rode airplanes like unbroken horses—but he had somehow always survived. A lieutenant colonel in the US Army Air Force, Doolittle had been a junior officer at the end of the First World War in what was then called the Army Air Service. By the time he had his wings, it was too late to take part in the Hell’s Angels era of sky jousting, when pilots’ mortality rate was one in five in combat and nearly half if accidents were included. But that fateful lack of action allowed Doolittle to become something of a celebrity stunt pilot in what soon became the era of aviation. And he did it by always making the numbers add up.


Doolittle was famous for getting both air traffic tickets for “unlawful aerial acrobatics” and a doctorate in aeronautical engineering at MIT. He developed cockpit navigation instrumentation that ensured that piloting decisions were made based on data, not the gut. And throughout his career, the very stunts that made him look insanely fearless were, in truth, proofs of scientific concepts. In 1928, he even went so far as to blackout the windshield of his airplane before taking off from Mitchel Field on Long Island, flying fifteen miles overhead, and landing smoothly without ever being able to see a foot in front of him. It was proof that he could calculate his way out of any risk. He could even fly blind.


As war had begun to loom the summer before, Doolittle had left a lucrative job with the Shell Oil Company to mobilize again and became a close advisor to General Henry “Hap” Arnold, the commanding general of the US Army Air Forces. He was a week away from his forty-fifth birthday when Japan attacked Pearl Harbor. President Franklin D. Roosevelt was impatient for a counterattack, but when Special Aviation Project No. 1 was proposed, there was no technology in the US arsenal that could reliably drop a bomb on Japan. Arnold asked Doolittle to make the numbers add up.


Doolittle’s solution was to get an aircraft carrier as close to the Japanese mainland as possible, launch a squadron of modified B-25B “Billy Mitchell” Army bombers on a one-way raid over Japan, and then fly them on to a landing strip in China that—hopefully—Chiang Kai-shek, the leader of the US-allied Kuomintang, would set up. That was the only way the brute arithmetic of weight, fuel, and time would add up, and just barely at that. Doolittle had to replace every unnecessary ounce of his B-25Bs with fuel tanks, which meant fewer guns, fewer defenses, and fewer provisions for contingencies. The tail guns were even replaced by broomsticks.


Once assembled in Florida, Nielsen and the rest of Doolittle’s volunteers trained for weeks on the magic number: five-hundred feet. They had to get off the ground in five-hundred feet, not the near half-mile of runway that the B-25B had been designed to take off from. Early on, the best the crews could manage was six hundred feet, so Doolittle kept drilling them, looking for any extra piece of unnecessary equipment to dump to save weight or any extra bit of finesse that could get the wheels off the ground a few feet sooner.


By the end of March, it was time to go and Doolittle led them all in a test flight of their flying gas cans across the country to Alameda, California. He chose to fly the lead plane himself, and selected seventy-nine men to join him, the happy few to crew the sixteen planes that could be loaded by crane onto the deck of the USS Hornet, one of the few aircraft carriers that was mission ready in the US fleet.


Nielsen was tapped to be the navigator on the sixth plane off the deck, which he and the crew nicknamed the Green Hornet. Nielsen’s crewmates were a cross section of a remote America he would have never known had the war not brought them all together. There was the pilot, Dean “Jungle Jim” Hallmark, a thick-necked Texan Baptist who had played football for Auburn. A flyboy if ever there was one, Hallmark had a loud laugh and a flush that never left his cheeks, which gave the impression that his blood vessels couldn’t contain some fire that was coursing through him. His copilot, Robert Meder, was a study in contrasts. Meder had a basketball player’s lanky frame, a subtle wit, and a heavy brow that gave the impression he was always thinking ahead of everyone. The son of Austrian immigrants, Meder was from Cleveland, which to men like Nielsen and Hallmark made him seem as urbane as the most Boston Brahmin. Then there was their bombardier, William Dieter, who came from a town as small as Vail, Iowa, and their gunner, Donald “Fitz” Fitzmaurice, who came from a city as big as Lincoln, Nebraska. The two became fast friends as the Green Hornet’s pair of good Catholic boys.


On April 1, 1942, they all boarded the Hornet with the flyboy’s nonchalance about the dangerous mission for which they had volunteered and disembarked the following day from San Francisco Bay into a dense fog. No one, except for Doolittle and a few other high-ranking officers, knew the precise nature of their mission, and the sailors of America’s Navy were less than pleased to share their beautiful new aircraft carrier with a hoard of flyboys, who were rowdy, dressed in all manner of wrinkled shirts, jackets, and trousers, and strutted about in unpolished shoes as if they were on a leisure cruise. But resentments faded away two days into the voyage, when the Hornet’s loudspeaker broke in: “This force is bound for Tokyo.”


It was official. After the surprise attack on Pearl Harbor and the humiliating defeats the Allies had suffered in the Pacific from Shanghai to the Philippines, the United States was finally taking the fight to Japan. And Doolittle and his men, eighty men who would forever be celebrated as the “Doolittle Raiders,” were going to be the ones to do it.





Doolittle had scheduled his raid for the evening of April 18, 1942. It would be a Saturday, and they would be protected by the cover of darkness as they made their bombing runs across Japan. Doolittle organized a series of briefings with the help of a naval intelligence officer, Stephen Jurika, who had been stationed in the US Embassy in Tokyo before the war and had even been awarded the Order of the Rising Sun by Emperor Hirohito, a medal Jurika asked Doolittle to return to the emperor on the nose of one of his bombs.


Doolittle handed out the target list and let the pilots select which targets they wanted to bomb. The pilots had drawn cards to see who got to bomb the Imperial Palace, but Doolittle disappointed them with the news that it was off limits. Doolittle had contemplated bombing the palace but had decided against it after reflecting on the German Blitz on London. The Germans had attacked the city for weeks, destroying docks, supplies, factories, and houses, and had put a slow but sure drain on public morale. The public’s mood had changed, though, when the Germans had hit Buckingham Palace. Public sentiment rallied around the idea that “if the king can take it, we can take it,” and Doolittle did not want to give the Japanese a reason to rally around the emperor.


Hallmark chose some steel mills in downtown Tokyo, and Nielsen was handed two-and-a-half-square-foot target maps of Japan to study. Each map covered only a small area and showed the highways, railroad tracks, and other geographical details around each target. Doolittle had instructed them to conduct low-level bombing to frustrate Japan’s air defenses. But that created a large trade-off in terms of accuracy and navigation. At a normal bombing altitude of 10,000 or 20,000 feet, Nielsen could easily track their position. Navigating at only a few hundred feet off the ground, though, was like trying to find an address in a new city while speeding at 150 miles per hour.


To help, Jurika marked off Tokyo’s major buildings. “The Diet Building,” he said, “was something that you could fly over, go a very short distance, and be in Kawasaki, perhaps three or four minutes, no more than that, on a bombing run, and the first major point under you would be the Tamagawa River, and just beyond that would be a major petro-chemical works. You don’t have to estimate, you don’t have to use a stopwatch. You have these major physical points to look at.”


Nielsen studied the aerial photographs and maps, trying to prepare the approach they would make and the landmarks they would see on the ground before their targets came up. “Fly over these and go on an absolute course,” Jurika explained. “You then pass over a river and the next big complex that you see, with chimneys belching yellow smoke, that’s where to lay your eggs.”


There was less ability to prepare for when they got to China. Chiang Kai-shek had supposedly set up on a landing strip in Quzhou that they could locate by sending out a call—“57”—on a special radio frequency. But if they did not make it that far, Jurika was pessimistic. “If captured dropping bombs on Japan, the chances of survival would be awfully slim; very, very, slim.” They should expect he said to be “paraded through the streets as Exhibit A, and then tried by some sort of a kangaroo court and probably publicly beheaded.”


Still, Jurika offered some tips for staying alive. He taught them Chinese phrases such as Lusau hoo metwa fugi (“I’m an American”) and explained that they could tell Chinese soldiers apart from Japanese soldiers based upon their footwear, since the Japanese wore socks that separated the big toe from the rest of the toes.


The day before the raid, Nielsen sent Thora a letter. “Tomorrow is the big day,” he wrote, hinting that he was about to go on a dangerous but very important mission. “Keep your chin up and don’t worry,” he assured her. “I have a feeling I’ll be coming back.”





At 3:10 a.m. on April 18, 1942, the Hornet made radar contact with a Japanese picket boat, the Nitto Maru. They were still seven hundred nautical miles from Japan; too far to get deep enough into China. Doolittle fought for more time to get just a few more nautical miles closer, but Admiral William “Bull” Halsey, Jr., the commander responsible for the well-being of the USS Hornet, was unwilling to take any more risks with one of the few operational aircraft carriers the Navy still had, not to mention the lives of the sailors on board. With the sun about to rise over the horizon behind them, Halsey gave the order to launch.


By daybreak, the sea was rough and the wind blew across the deck at 40 knots, causing the Hornet to pitch so violently that it kept taking water over the bow. Doolittle took the lead and, at 8:21 a.m., sped his B-25B down the slippery deck and up into the clouds in just 467 feet. Minutes later, it was the Green Hornet’s turn, and when the flagman gave the signal, Hallmark got up in just about 500 feet.


As they made their way to Japan, the weather cleared. Nielsen navigated the Green Hornet to their targets in downtown Tokyo with a northern approach over Japanese farmland. A bit of flak fired up from some antiaircraft gunners on the ground, but nothing caused them any trouble. All the anxieties that had quietly built up over months swelled into giddiness as they realized how easy it all was turning out to be. As Dieter dropped their incendiary clusters over Tokyo’s suburbs, Hallmark led them all in a chorus of the song “I Don’t Want to Set the World on Fire.” In the ballad’s slow, swaying rhythm, they all crooned:




I don’t want to set the world… on… fire


I just want to start… a flame in your heart.





But as they escaped toward China, flying low over the water, the weather turned again. The clouds and rain came in and the sun began to set in front of them. Nielsen kept track of their position and began to doubt that the Green Hornet had enough fuel to get over land, much less to the rendezvous site Chiang Kai-shek had supposedly set up for them in Quzhou.


Hallmark made the call. It was time to strap on their “Mae Wests,” life preservers that wrapped around the neck and inflated two large balloons at the top of their chests. As soon as land was in sight, they would make a water landing and paddle to shore on the emergency raft.


By the time land was visible, it was nearly dark. Hallmark slowly edged the Green Hornet’s belly closer and then closer still to the blackening surface of the East China Sea. The altimeter wound down like the hands of a clock going back in time. When it reached midnight, the Green Hornet would be at sea level. The attitude indicator, the circle on the left side of the instrument panel whose top half was sky blue and whose bottom half was ground green, wobbled as Hallmark adjusted the yoke by inches to keep the wings level. The hands on the altimeter wound down to midnight, and Hallmark lined up the belly of the plane to skid across the tips of the waves as smoothly as a big fat B-25B Billy Mitchell could.


But then, with only a few seconds left, the engines started kicking out. The propellers sputtered, first on the left and then on the right, a delay that made the shaky attitude indicator spasm. The Green Hornet’s left wing clipped the waves. At the speed they were going, the water was only just softer than concrete and the impact tore the wing clean off, whipped the fuselage onto its side, and slammed its glass nose into the blackness of the water.


Nielsen smacked his head and came to waist deep in sea water that was flooding into the navigator compartment. The Green Hornet was sinking with him inside, so he pulled himself out through the cockpit. Once on the surface, he saw Fitz, the gunner, floating limply with a deep hole in his head that was draining blood. Dieter had been seated in the plane’s glass nose, which had crushed him inside before spitting him out to the surface. Now he was floating by the life preserver around his neck, telling Nielsen “I’m hurt all over.”


Nielsen tried to regroup with Hallmark and Meder on the sinking fuselage. Meder pulled out the emergency raft and yanked its cord to inflate it. But a combination of Meder’s anxious strength and shoddy manufacturing ripped the cord clean off. Then, as Meder scrambled to fill the raft with the hand pump, a wave washed over them.


Nielsen bobbed to the surface. He could tell that Hallmark and Meder were still alive and floating nearby. Whether Fitz and Dieter were was less clear. But soon the tide scattered the five of them into the cold darkness. And before long, Nielsen could no longer hear anyone’s cries but his own over the drumming of the rain.


The next morning, Nielsen found himself in Juexi, a seaside town on the Xiangshan Peninsula, south of Shanghai. Nielsen, Hallmark, and Meder had all been rescued by some locals who had seen the crash the night before. The bodies of Fitz and Dieter had just been found washed up on the shore.


Juexi’s mayor, Shimiao Yang, was welcoming and seemingly sympathetic to all they had endured. He had coffins made so that Nielsen, Hallmark, and Meder could give Fitz and Dieter a proper funeral. At a scenic spot on a hill that overlooked the coast, they packed sawdust around the bodies, lowered the coffins into the ground, and said a prayer.


Yang had assured them that he was trying to find a way for the three of them to get to safety, but it wasn’t long before some Chinese guerrillas came around. Nielsen could never figure out who had tipped them off. And soon the guerrillas were joined by a cadre of Japanese regulars, whose interpreter greeted Nielsen, Hallmark, and Meder with surprising cordiality.


“You now Japanese prisoner,” Nielsen heard him say. “You no worry. We treat you fine.”










TWO


The Japanese soldiers marched Nielsen, Hallmark, and Meder in a caravan through the hilly Chinese countryside and then to a dock in the coastal city of Ningbo, where they stayed the night before boarding a ship north. All along the way, the Japanese Army kept its promise to treat them fine, giving the three of them as much to eat and drink as they could stomach.


Two days later, they were in Shanghai. It was early afternoon, and as soon as Nielsen stepped off the boat, he sensed that things had changed. He was blindfolded, separated from Hallmark and Meder, and driven somewhere in the back seat of a car. He could hear the commotion of Shanghai all around him but had little sense of it before it faded.


An hour later, the car stopped, and Nielsen listened carefully. From the sounds of things, he guessed he was at an airport.


Yanked out of the car, Nielsen was rushed down corridors, through doorways, and past men shouting over noise. Things were happening quickly, and suddenly he found himself pushed into a chair. His blindfold was taken off, and as he looked about, he saw that he was seated before a table in a small room. A little frosted window in the corner refracted the afternoon sunlight and cast shadows on the faces of what seemed like a dozen Japanese soldiers, who were all intently looking at him.


The pace of the questioning that followed was intense. Why was Nielsen in China? How had he gotten there? Where were the others? Nielsen answered with his name, rank, and serial number.


“We have methods of making you talk” Nielsen remembered the translator saying. One of the guards gave him a kick to the shin with the edge of his hobnailed boot. It drew blood, and the pain was sharp.


“You understand, nobody in your country know you live. We have torture you to death your people think you missing in action. You want to talk now?”


Nielsen resisted the best he could that afternoon, as one well-practiced method of making him talk followed another. As the interrogator asked and reasked his questions, his goons went to work.


At one point, they forced Nielsen to kneel on the floor, fixed a bamboo pole behind his knees, and pushed him back until his hamstrings pressed into his calves. The pole strained against his ligaments, and soon it felt as if his kneecaps were just floating between his bones. Nielsen could barely breathe, let alone scream, as the goons started storming on his thighs. Boot-stomp, boot-stomp, boot-stomp, mashing down on his thighs and sending bolts of pain through every part of him until he went numb, even to the bamboo pole, and became seized by the thought that they were going to pull him apart. The only thing that kept him sane was the little frosted window in the corner where he could see sunlight still coming through. “If I could just get outside,” he thought, “I might have a chance to make a break for it.”


But that chance never came. Instead, grosser forms of brutality yielded to subtler tortures that were even harder to withstand. Legs still numb,  Nielsen was plopped back into the chair, and his interrogator drew out a few thin sticks that looked like skinny pencils. Nielsen suddenly realized his wrist had been pinned to the table, and the interrogator slid the tips of those skinny pencils clean through the webbing between Nielsen’s fingers and down into his nerves.


The goon pinning his wrist to the table then squeezed Nielsen’s fingers together as the interrogator slid and twisted the sticks in and out, side to side, and in circles as each question came. The more he twisted, the more blood squeezed up between Nielsen’s knuckles and the more deafening the pain radiating through his nerves became.


When the interrogator ran out of questions, he left Nielsen to hang for the night by his hands. The hook was so high on the wall that Nielsen was barely able to scratch the floor with his toes. His arms pulled, first at the shoulder, then at the elbow, and then at the wrist, as he dangled. The more he twisted, the sharper the pain became. It was hard to breathe. Nielsen shouted for help, but was just left to dangle there until the next morning.


The same Japanese goons who had strung him up dragged him out and reunited him with Dean Hallmark and Robert Meder, as they were all packed up to be flown to Tokyo. A no-talking rule was strictly enforced, but Hallmark flashed Nielsen a thumbs-up all the same.





The two months Nielsen spent in Tokyo went by quickly. The questioning was constant, but things seemed professional. The main interrogator was a Japanese lawyer, who looked to be about sixty and sported a potbelly. He never gave his name, but he claimed to have gone to Stanford and to like America, particularly American girls. He was chatty, friendly even and, if nothing else, talking to him broke up the monotony of sitting alone in a cell all day.


It was in Tokyo that Nielsen learned that the crew of William Farrow’s Bat Out of Hell had also been captured. Farrow’s crew was just as much a sampling of 1940s America as Hallmark’s had been. In addition to Harold Spatz, Farrow’s gunner and the baby of the group, there was his copilot, Robert Hite, a tall man with a rather birdlike face that made him look ten years older than he was. The most that could be said of Hite’s internal life was that he strongly identified the plains of central Texas with home. George Barr, Farrow’s navigator, was a six-foot-two orphan from Brooklyn whose shock of red hair made him something of a freak of nature to the Japanese. Opposite Barr and Hite in seemingly every way was Jacob DeShazer, their bombardier, who stood five foot eight in shoes and was as mild-mannered as anyone from Madras, Oregon, would be expected to be. Farrow’s crew had bailed out over China but had all been captured within a day.


The first time the eight lost Doolittle Raiders were together was on June 20, 1942, when the guards took them all out into a courtyard. It was the first time any of them had seen the sun in two months. The Japanese had decided to ship them back to China as a group, and after a three-day voyage, they found themselves in Shanghai.


From the city’s docks, they were driven through the gray stone outer walls that surrounded Bridge House, an apartment building that the Kempeitai had repurposed into its Shanghai headquarters. Bridge House’s ground floor had been converted from servants’ quarters into a dungeon of twenty-six makeshift cells that measured no more than ten by twenty feet. The windows had even been painted over to enhance the feeling that one was entering a salty pit lit by incessant electric lights that only went out when the power failed.


The eight of them were led to Cell 5, a ten-by-fifteen-foot wooden cell already packed with fifteen other men and women. The overcrowding throughout Bridge House was rampant. As many as two dozen men and women were packed into nearly every cell.


To Nielsen’s relief, their cellmates were led out after a few days, leaving the eight of them to themselves. The extra room meant that they could all lie down to rest at the same time. But they never dared to. At night, they had to take turns playing guard duty against the rats, who thought nothing of taking a bite out of a sleeping prisoner. And when laying his head down to sleep, Nielsen had to block out the sound of the big mamma rat who had birthed a litter that now squirmed under the wooden floorboards.


Everything inside Bridge House seemed to be made out of wood. The cells had wooden walls, wooden bars around the perimeter, and a raised wooden floor with a wooden bucket in the corner for a toilet. In the summer heat, the humidity caused the wooden walls, which leaked when it rained, to sweat as mosquitoes, flies, and centipedes invaded between the boards and Nielsen’s hands and face soon swelled from all manner of festering bites.


Even more than the filth, Bridge House was notorious for its guards. Just boys mostly, barely peasants back home in Japan, they found themselves with unaccountable power over hundreds of men and women whose language they could not understand and, by virtue of being Japan’s enemies, whose humanity seemed at best alien and diminished.


Nielsen was spared much of the brutality that was inflicted, seemingly at random, on the others. The guards once responded to Robert Hite’s implacability by chopping a chunk out of his scalp with a scabbard. Hallmark and Meder were taken up to the infamous fifth floor, where the Kempeitai did its torture-enhanced “interrogations” in which inmates were routinely waterboarded, pulled into stress positions, or hung from the ceiling. Both came back limp.


Then there was the starvation. Breakfast every day was a small cup of congee, a starchy rice water that had no flavor and was the consistency of snot. It was the only food until 5:30 p.m., when dinner was served; four ounces of dried bread or rice and a sip from a common cup of tea. All eight of them lost weight fast, even after they realized in early August that the guards could be bribed to bring more food with the American dollars they still had in their pockets.


Hallmark had become obsessed by thoughts of food. He dreamed of the dinners he would be having back home of smothered steaks and fried potatoes with banana pudding and blackberry cobbler and a big old slice of syrup pie and some apricot pie and then, after a good night’s sleep, biscuits and cream gravy with bacon and eggs and stewed apricots on the side.


Hallmark succeeded in bribing one of Bridge House’s guards to smuggle him a slab of beefsteak, but it hit his stomach the wrong way. Before long, he was bursting his bowels into the wooden shit bucket they all shared a few times every hour. The stink and filth became overwhelming, but the guards did nothing until the day he collapsed. A doctor rushed in, gave him some kind of injection, and put him on a strict diet of apple cider and a horrid vegetable soup. Hallmark was forbidden to drink water, but the cider was bitter and he would defiantly sneak a sip of water whenever it came around. As the weeks went by, Hallmark’s weight dropped from 200 pounds to a listless 140.


As hard as it all was, they still had one another. During the day, they passed the time by playing games such as “To Tell the Truth” or “Password” or shaking out their blankets in the middle of the floor and competing to see who could catch the most black fleas and white lice that crawled out. A louse was worth five points, and though a flea only earned one point, Nielsen developed a strategy for racking up points with fleas by wetting his fingers before going in for the catch. Meder even came up with a mealtime game, in which they would trade their cups of soup and bowls of rice back and forth in a duck-duck-goose lottery, so that someone might end up with two bowls of rice or two cups of soup. They even scratched their names onto the wall with the note, “We crashed!”


The solidarity gave them the comfort with one another to compare notes on what they had been through. They commiserated about the Japanese methods of trying to make them talk. Three of them had been subjected to the notorious waterboard, Hallmark and Meder when they had been taken up to Bridge House’s fifth floor and George Barr soon after he had been captured. And they all remembered the potbellied interrogator from Tokyo, whom they nicknamed “Well-Well” for his verbal tic of saying “well, well” as he looked for the right English words to say what he wanted to say.





At the end of August, they were all told to go and get themselves cleaned up. Ordinarily, the most they had was the rare chance to rinse themselves with the water pump in Bridge House’s courtyard. But this time they were led up to the fourth-floor bathtub, where there was hot running water. They all enjoyed it, but Hite luxuriated long enough to go through one and a half bars of soap. When he was done, he said, he could not “remember a kinder feeling than the soothing wet warmth of that tub.”


Once they all had gotten themselves cleaned up, the Kempeitai loaded them onto an open truck and drove them to the Japanese 13th Army’s headquarters in Jiangwan. The hour’s drive north up Tazang Motor Road in the fresh air was the first truly pleasant moment Nielsen had enjoyed since leaving the deck of the Hornet. The landscape north of Shanghai was a patchwork of green fields punctuated by the occasional picturesque cottage. Washed by the summer air, it was a sight to see how beautiful China could be outside the walls of Bridge House.


Soon the truck pulled up to the gates of a brick garrison, which abutted a golf course and was marked with a sign that read, “Headquarters Japanese 13th Army, Shanghai Area.” Through the gates were large modern buildings, some with pagoda tile roofs in the Chinese neoclassical style, surrounded by meticulously manicured gardens with vegetables, assorted flowers, and a meditation pond, complete with a stone lantern that cast reflections from the center. The odd Japanese soldier could be seen milling about half naked outside a bathhouse, the exterior wall lined with brushes each of which was on a designated hook in precise rows.


The eight of them hopped off the truck, except for Dean Hallmark, who had to be carried off on a stretcher. They were all then ushered into a crowded L-shaped courtroom with seven or eight Japanese officers arrayed along a judge’s bench. People talked back in forth in Japanese.


The interpreter was a chubby lieutenant whose English was surprisingly good, though he was oddly dressed in tweed and golf socks that seemed to match his British accent. He was nice enough, but he struggled to give them the gist of what was being said. All the while, Hallmark stayed lying on his stretcher as flies buzzed around him, and the rest of them did their best to stay on their feet. At one point, George Barr almost collapsed in the August heat, but an alert Japanese soldier jumped in to catch him and saw to it that he got a chair.


The officer in the middle of the judge’s bench spoke at them in Japanese, and at one point, it was clear to Nielsen that he was being asked a question. The interpreter leaned in and told him to give his life history since high school. Nielsen complied, as did all the others, including Hallmark, who stayed lying down while he talked.


After a bit more talking back and forth, it was all over. They were taken outside the courtroom to pose for pictures. A Japanese officer took a few solo shots of William Farrow in his bomber jacket and then lined the rest of the men up as a group. Hallmark was then loaded back onto the truck, while Nielsen and the rest were led into Jiangwan’s brig.


The brig was little more than a kennel. The cells had high ceilings that made them feel even narrower than they already were, and a light bulb dangled above a small window eight feet above the latrine hatch. A Japanese guard led them each to a separate cell and made a show of telling them the rules. Nielsen could not understand a word of what he said, but the guard seemed content in having done his job and left them alone.


Then, on a foggy morning in the middle of October, Nielsen was taken back into the crowded L-shaped courtroom by guards dressed in ceremonial uniforms. Meder, Hite, DeShazer, and Barr were also there, but Hallmark, Farrow, and Spatz were missing, and when asked where they were, all Nielsen could get were rumors that the three of them had been taken to another prison camp. There was no telling what the truth was, though, because when the hearing started, the courtroom interpreter nervously stepped forward to read from a document that made the blood run cold.


“For bombing and strafing school areas you have been sentenced to death,” he said as a wave of unease spread through the room. “But, through the gracious majesty of the Emperor, you have been spared to life imprisonment with special treatment.” The five of them were then ushered out of the courtroom as quickly as they had been brought in and taken back to the prison, where Nielsen returned to the routine of spending day after day alone in his cell with the light bulb hanging above.


Things got better in early December, when the warden allowed them to live together in one big cell. But then that spring, on the one-year anniversary of their raid as it happened, they were moved around again. Nielsen was shackled, blindfolded, and flown with Meder, Hite, DeShazer, and Barr to what looked like a new prison in Nanking, which one of the guards said had been built especially for the five of them.





Nanking Prison was located in the northeast of the city whose very name had become synonymous with Japanese brutality. The walls were high and built of concrete and brick, and Nielsen was deposited into a nine-by-twelve-foot cell that had a small window seven feet from the floor.


The cell’s thick wooden door had a small porthole that would snap open and closed each time a guard checked on him or handed him some food, which was better than it had been at Jiangwan but was terribly monotonous. Three times a day, through the porthole, Nielsen was handed the same half pint of soup, pint of rice, and half pint of cool tea.


On the bright side, the meals brought the “tin cup news” broadcast. After the porthole closed, Nielsen would peek under his teacup to see if there were any updates that someone somewhere had etched onto the bottom with the edge of a button. The cups invariably made their way all around the prison, so over time it was possible to get a sense of who else was being held. One time the cup reported “Connie G. Battles, United States Marines.” Another time, Nielsen got a lift when he read “Russians on German border.”


As everywhere else, the guards in Nanking Prison were a mixed bag. Some were nice—one even sneaked them some extra food now and again—but others thought nothing of throwing a shove or a sharp whack with a baton. The only real power the five of them had was the fact that the guards didn’t understand a word of English. That allowed them to increase their collective resistance by calling the guards nicknames they came up with during the few brief minutes they got each day to exercise together. Meder was always the best at nailing the perfect nickname for a guard. There were “Big Ugly” and “Little Ugly,” “Goon,” “Mule,” “Goofy,” and “Cyclops,” named for his enormous Coke-bottle glasses. The nice guard was honored with the nickname “Sportsman.”


Meder was always looking for ways to keep up their morale. He developed a system of Morse code so they could send each other messages through the walls: tap for a dot, scratch for a dash. It was a tedious way to have a conversation, but it gave them all the chance to learn more about each other, to share their dreams, and to bitch about the indignities of daily life in a way that made them feel less alone.


As summer turned to fall, however, Nielsen could tell that something wasn’t right. Meder was finding it increasingly hard to hold eye contact and was moving awkwardly. He couldn’t keep down food, and when he did, it went right through him two or three times a day in a sticky, muddy mess. By the middle of October, Meder’s legs started to swell. The prison doctor tried giving him some vitamin B shots and glucose in addition to pills and yeast packets that the nurse started bringing around every few days. But he just got thinner and weaker.


Even as he wasted away, Meder kept his daily appointment with the rest of them in the exercise yard. He would work his arms a bit or stretch and keep up his end of the conversation as best he could. He never let on how hard it was on him.


Then, on the afternoon of December 1, 1943, Barr had been asked to help with food delivery. He knocked on Meder’s door, but got no answer. When the guards opened the door, Meder was motionless. The medical staff rushed in, tried mouth-to-mouth resuscitation, and even gave Meder an adrenaline shot in the heart. But he was too far gone.


Two days later, the prison warden gave Nielsen, Hite, DeShazer, and Barr a chance to pay their final respects. When Nielsen entered Meder’s cell, he found Meder lying in an open casket, his face distorted from the wads of cotton stuffed into his nose and mouth. There were a few chrysanthemums on his chest, and his eyes were closed. His body had withered down to a skeleton. Nielsen said a prayer and his goodbyes, not just to the loss of a friend, but to the comradery that Meder had relentlessly kindled, no matter how hopeless and terrified they all had every reason to be.


As a Mormon, Nielsen could take solace from the holy scriptures, which brimmed with heroes from Daniel in the lion’s den to Alma and Amulek in captivity, all of whom had endured injustice through faith. Joseph Smith, the founding prophet of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, had himself been imprisoned during the persecution the Mormon community suffered in Missouri in 1838. Cramped in a frigid dungeon beneath the city jail in Liberty and told that the rotten meat he was fed was the flesh of his murdered followers, Smith had pleaded desperately, “O God, where art thou?” And God had answered him, “My son, peace be unto thy soul; thine adversity and thine afflictions shall be but a small moment; And then, if thou endure it well, God shall exalt thee on high; thou shalt triumph over all thy foes. Thy friends do stand by thee, and they shall hail thee again with warm hearts and friendly hands.”


Nielsen did all he could to endure it well and to keep his mind alive in the solitude. He added the biggest numbers he could think of together in his head. And the more time he spent alone, the better he got at it.


He also took flights in his mind to the future. His biggest project was building his homestead in Utah, where he and his wife, Thora, could raise some children. They had ten brothers and sisters between them. Thora had been the youngest of six and Nielsen the middle of six. Five years younger than Nielsen, Thora was still in her early twenties. Her mother had been in her early thirties before she had had Thora’s oldest brother, Gordon, and had still managed to have four more before giving birth to Thora in her midforties. Who knew how many children they might have?


Nielsen imagined every detail of their future home. He traced the roll of the property across his mind, keeping an eye out for all the landscaping that needed doing. He picked out the color scheme and tried out different plumbing fixtures for the bathroom. He built their home hundreds of times, feeling the weight of each shovel full of dirt as he dug out the basement, the splinters of each beam as he assembled the frame, the grit of each brick he placed in each wall and of every shingle he nailed into its place. But there was only so much building he could do. Eventually the house would disappear. Thora would disappear. And every flight of imagination landed him back in the same place: sitting alone in his cell.





Nielsen spent more than two years in Nanking Prison. And then, at 6:30 in the morning on June 12, 1945, he was wrested from his lonely cell, hooded, bound, and packed into a train with Hite, DeShazer, and Barr, and taken to Fengtai, a prisoner of war camp on the outskirts of Beijing. The trip took two days and the heat was suffocating, though Nielsen took some solace in the fact that he had it no worse than the Japanese soldiers, who all looked as ragged, undernourished, and sweltering as he felt. It was peculiar. The Japanese had loomed so large in his mind for years. They had all the power. But on this train and in this car, they were just as miserable.


Fengtai Prison Camp was situated in a disused rail depot that the Japanese had ringed with electrified barbed wire. There was no plumbing, and, nurtured by the summer heat, the flies swarmed by the millions.


The four of them were taken to Fengtai’s brig, and Nielsen soon found himself once again in a small prison cell by himself. It was not the best he’d seen. It was also not the worst. There were no electric lights, which kept things pretty dim, but there was not much to look at in any event. The cell was a little smaller and sparer than his cell in Nanking had been. But it had a little window near the ceiling, and if he pulled himself up to the sill, he could look up into the sky or out into the yard, where Japanese soldiers drilled each morning. There was a little less food, but there was also more to drink, which was nice in the summer. The guards were about average in their cruelty. For the first full week, they hovered over him and made him sit on the floor, facing the wall all day. But gradually, everyone got used to everyone else, and Nielsen was left alone to do what he would in the solitude of his eighty-eight square feet.


Things stayed the same until the evening of August 20, 1945, 1,220 days and 11 hours after the Green Hornet took off from the USS Hornet. It was a Monday, and the previous Thursday morning, Nielsen had listened and then looked for the Japanese soldiers in the yard doing their morning drills. It was a routine that happened every day without fail. But that morning, there was not a soldier to be seen.


When the soldiers finally did come out, they were in trucks brimming with paper of all kinds—maps, ledgers, photographs, reports—that they then dumped into an enormous firepit. All weekend, truck after truck, the Japanese seemed intent on destroying every trace of what had been done in Fengtai.


Nielsen called over to Hite and DeShazer, who were alone in their own cells, to take a look. A guard scolded Nielsen for talking, but he and the rest of the guards seemed less directed than they had been just days before. Nielsen heard one say something about a powerful new weapon that Japan had developed that was many times more powerful than a normal bomb. But if the Japanese were on the cusp of victory, why would they be destroying all their records?


Nielsen then heard single-engine fighter planes buzzing overhead. He pulled himself up by the sill of his window to look for them in the sky, but he couldn’t see anything that would tell him whose planes they were or why they were there.


Then, on Monday evening, a guard called him out of his cell and told him to go get cleaned up. Nielsen had every reason to worry, but he compliantly went to the prison barber, who buzzed his black hair down to his scalp. The barber then took out a straight razor, splashed him with some cold water, and shaved his face so close that it seemed as if he were trying to peel the skin off a potato. It smarted, but when it was over, Nielsen’s face felt clean and bright for the first time in a while.


Robert Hite and Jacob DeShazer were also brought in for a shave and a haircut, and all three men were given soap and tubs in which to take a long-overdue bath. The only one missing was George Barr. They could tell that Barr had been getting sicker—there had been less and less sign of him in the sparse calls they made to one another through their cell windows—but they had no idea where he was or if they would have been told if he had died.


Their worries about Barr aside, their cause for anxiety deepened when a guard interrupted their baths, barking at them in Japanese to hurry. Were they going back before some Japanese court? Had the emperor’s commutation of their death sentences been revoked? Would they be the next fuel for another massive firepit burning in the yard?


The three of them did as they were told, hurried up, and got dressed. The impatient soldier then led them out to the front of the Fengtai compound, where smartly dressed Japanese soldiers were already gathered, including a number of very-high-ranking officers; the kind of crowd that would assemble for an execution.


Nielsen had promised Thora that he would be back. However far away she and their homestead in Utah were, they had given him hope. He had made them as real as any memory as he languished alone in his small cell. And now he had gotten himself cleaned up only to be surrounded by what looked like an execution party that could snuff out him and all his memories, real and imagined, with a single bullet through his forehead.


But then Nielsen saw that some of the soldiers were dressed in US Army uniforms. Ragged and with a few days of beard growth over their sun-leathered skin, they didn’t look beaten or submissive the way prisoners typically had to act around the Japanese. In fact, they were all armed to the teeth. Then one of them, a middle-aged major by the name of Ray Nichols, came over to Nielsen.


“Well, son,” Nichols said in a midwestern accent. “The war is over. Now let’s go home.”










THREE


The assignment that brought Ray Nichols to Fengtai had come together on August 10, 1945. A welder by trade, Nichols had been in the service for nearly a decade after signing up with the Wisconsin National Guard and was now a commando team leader in the Office of Strategic Services, the “OSS.” His team’s mission was to drop into enemy-occupied territory to find prisoners of war and prevent evidence of war crimes—documents and human—from being destroyed.


Under the name Operation Magpie, his team’s target was Fengtai, about which intelligence was thin. All they knew was that three months earlier, a report had come in identifying the camp as the location of Colonel James Devereux, who had commanded the marines at the Battle of Wake Island and was still believed to be alive in Japanese custody.


On August 17, 1945, Nichols loaded his team onto an overstuffed B-24 with food, blankets, supplies, and leaflets to drop over Beijing. The leaflets proclaimed that the war was over and promised favorable treatment to anyone who helped safely locate prisoners of war. Of the seven men on Nichols’s team, only one, the medic, had been trained as a paratrooper.


As the B-24 flew over Beijing, a young Japanese American staff sergeant by the name of Richard “Dick” Hamada stood over the jump hole with the tightly wrapped package of leaflets in one hand. Born in Hawaii, Hamada had seen the Pearl Harbor attack as it happened and made a point of being one of the first Japanese Americans to sign up for the 442nd Regimental Combat Team, the all-Nisei army unit established in 1943. Hamada, who was a crack shot, got tapped to join the OSS and spent the last year of the war doing covert actions deep inside the Burmese jungle, where, he later joked, he had been more afraid of the tigers than the Japanese.


Now Nichols watched as Hamada slashed the wrapper of the leaflet packet open, oblivious to the wind rushing up from the jump hole. The packet burst in Hamada’s face, and the leaflets sprayed like startled bats around the belly of the B-24. Hamada flailed about, swatting the papers out of the air, but Nichols was not amused.


The leaflets were now unlikely to do any good, if they ever had been, and Nichols could see that they were quickly approaching the jump site outside Fengtai. The emperor had announced Japan’s surrender only two days earlier, so there was no guarantee that word had traveled this far.


Nichols and his team poised themselves. The jumpmaster wished them all “good luck and good hunting.” The red jump light flashed, and its buzzer crowded out any second thoughts. “Go! Go! Go!”


Nichols’s team scattered in an open meadow about a thousand feet from Fengtai. The B-24 circled back around to drop their gear and then disappeared into the sky. It was quarter after five in the evening. The feeling of isolation was intense, and the danger was obvious.


Nichols was in the middle of Japanese-occupied China, getting ready to walk up to a prison defended by hundreds, if not thousands, of Japanese regulars. The only thing preventing him and his team from becoming prisoners themselves was the United States’ two-day-old truce with Japan, agreed to after four years in which the countries’ citizens had slaughtered each other by the hundreds of thousands. If push came to shove, Nichols was not equipped to put up much of a fight. Each of his men was armed with only three pistols, a few thousand dollars in cash, a carton of Lucky Strikes, and a letter—written in English—from General Albert C. Wedemeyer, the commander of US forces in China.


Each man kept a tactical distance from the others as they walked through a meadow toward the camp’s fence line. Then, from the direction of Fengtai, came some pops.


Nichols hit the ground as fast as he could as bullets buzzed past in a swarm. Man by man, each member of his team gave a shout confirming that he had not been hit. Nichols gave the order to freeze in place, and the team stayed still in the tall grass as Nichols watched a truck drive toward them from the camp. As it got closer, a white flag came into view. The truck then sped toward where the team’s medic was holed up and off-loaded three Japanese soldiers, who quickly surrounded him with rifles, bayonets fixed.


An angry Japanese lieutenant stepped out of the truck, making a show of the fact that he was in charge. The medic pointed the few hundred feet to Nichols. The lieutenant drew his sword and marched Nichols’ way. “What is the meaning of this parachute jump?”


Hamada quickly ran over to intervene. “Did you not see the leaflets we dropped,” Hamada asked in Japanese, “before jump?”


“What leaflets?” The angry lieutenant snapped.


Hamada took a crumpled leaflet from his pocket, and the lieutenant looked it over. “The war is not over,” he snorted as he looked back up. “So get in the truck.”


Each American was placed between two Japanese soldiers, who seemed to have no idea what to make of the men who had just dropped out of the sky. The ride was tense, but the lieutenant made no effort to disarm Nichols or his team.


The truck lurched over a bump and one of the Japanese soldiers fell toward Nichols, nicking him in the chest with a bayonet. It was just a scratch and clearly an accident, but blood started wicking through the fibers of Nichols’ shirt. The pistols he and his team were carrying could make quick work of these soldiers in the close quarters of the truck. All Nichols had to do was give the signal.


Hamada broke in to diffuse the situation. “You have just earned your purple heart,” he joked, “if we get out of here alive.” Nichols had a reputation for being one of the most humorless Americans in the Pacific, but he let the scowl he had long ago etched into his face crack into a brief smile and gave a nod.


With the situation defused, Hamada asked the lieutenant to send out some soldiers to round up the supplies the B-24 had dropped into the meadow.


“Japanese soldiers do not work for the Americans.”


“What about coolies?” Hamada asked, using the not entirely complimentary slang for Chinese peasant laborers.


“Perhaps you can get some at headquarters.”


When they pulled up to what looked like an administrative building inside Fengtai, they were cordially greeted by a Japanese major, who welcomed them in. Nichols demanded to see the prisoners as Hamada translated his speech regarding the humanitarian nature of their mission.


The major asked them to be patient. Lieutenant General Gaku Takahashi, the Japanese general in charge of this part of northern China, was on his way. Hamada asked again for help in collecting their supplies. The major readily agreed and ordered the lieutenant to do the job.


While they waited, the major ordered up some tea. Nichols sipped along uncomfortably with everyone else as curious Japanese soldiers sneaked peeks through the windows or the break in the doorway. The soldiers were intrigued by Hamada; seeing a young Japanese soldier in a US Army uniform was as exotic to them as seeing Nichols in a kimono would have been to the Americans.


At about 6:30 p.m., General Takahashi arrived and the room clicked to attention. After the perfunctory introductions, Nichols repeated his demands.


Takahashi asked Nichols to be patient; he would need approval from Nanking.


“How long?” Nichols snapped.


“About two or three days,” Takahashi suggested.


Takahashi gave the impression of wanting to help and joined them for tea. He propped his head lazily on his sword and made small talk, even mentioning a trip he had taken to New York before the war.


After the mood had relaxed some, Takahashi remarked on what a dangerous thing they all had just done. Had they landed even a few hours later, they would likely have gotten themselves killed. The Japanese soldiers who had picked them up did not know that the war was over. If the guards on night duty saw some Americans charging the camp, they would have just gunned them all down. Only the officers knew of the peace negotiations. Nichols and his men, Takahashi explained, were in “extreme danger.”


Nichols made a show of being unmoved. Considering the pieces of leverage at his disposal, he opted to lead with his letter from General Wedemeyer. After giving Takahashi a moment to look it over, Nichols made clear to him that if anything happened to him or his men, it was he—Takahashi—who would be in “extreme danger.”


Takahashi remained genial and invited Nichols to join him for dinner. Nichols appreciated the gesture but “regretfully” declined. He was there to accomplish his mission.


Takahashi was understanding and told Nichols that if he and his team wanted to get around Beijing safely, they would need a better letter than the one from Wedemeyer. Takahashi wrote one letter for each man—in Japanese—under his own signature. They would be their passports in China. He then offered to put them all up in Beijing’s Grand Hôtel des Wagons-Lits, a brand-new hotel that originally been a geisha house. Takahashi made it clear that although there were no restrictions, it would be dangerous to wander around alone in Beijing. In addition to his handmade passports, Takahashi assigned two plainclothes officers from the Kempeitai to serve as their personal bodyguards.


Takahashi’s eagerness to be cooperative was surprising for someone who had, just a few days before, been a sworn enemy, but he had good reason to want to make friends. The Soviets, Japan’s longest-standing enemy, were continuing their advance south despite the armistice. Atrocities were rampant, and Japanese forces and civilians alike were being rounded up by the hundreds of thousands and deported into the Russian interior as slave labor. Takahashi knew it was only a matter of time before he would be surrounded and had even sent a cable to General Wedemeyer asking for Allied intervention to prevent the Soviets from crossing the Great Wall of China. Mending the relationship with the United States was not just the least worst option, it was a necessity.





Within three days of his arrival and with the help of the Swiss consul in Beijing, Nichols negotiated the release of more than three hundred prisoners of war. Nearly all were provided rooms at the Grand Hôtel des Wagons-Lits. Operation Magpie was a success.


When the first group of liberated prisoners of war arrived at the hotel, the Japanese concierge warmly welcomed them, though his hospitality soon faded as the filthy horde of liberated American soldiers and other prisoners piled into his lobby. The hotel had brand-new tatami floors, and the concierge nearly provoked a riot when he demanded that his newest guests take off their shoes before coming inside.


The newly liberated men celebrated the end of the war and the return to victorious freedom, pilfering the hotel’s sake, beer, and food as booty. Then, after the long-awaited victory party was well under way, a rumor made its way to Nichols that four of the Doolittle Raiders had been among the prisoners at Fengtai.


Nichols confronted Fengtai’s warden, a heavyset bureaucrat with bushy eyebrows and a graying handlebar mustache. None of the guests of the Grand Hôtel des Wagons-Lits was a Doolittle Raider. When the warden pretended not to know what Nichols was talking about, Nichols got into his face.


“You’re a damned liar!” he shouted. “I know that you saw these men last Tuesday at five thirty, and I want them.”


An investigation was promised, and later that evening, three freshly groomed young men were brought out of Fengtai’s brig. All three were dramatically emaciated, festering with sweat rash, and a bit bewildered. The swarthy-looking one with close-clipped black hair introduced himself as Chase Nielsen, Doolittle Raider.


“You better watch out for this guy,” Nichols said, turning to his men with a tone that made it hard to tell if he was joking. “He’s off his rocker.” But it was true. Nichols had found the lost Doolittle Raiders.





It was hard for anyone to believe. When the press had first reported that eight of the Doolittle Raiders had been captured in the fall of 1942, everyone had assumed the worst. Then, on the one-year anniversary of the raid, President Roosevelt had revealed their tragic fate and the worst was confirmed on front-page banner headlines across the country.


Hap Arnold had written an open letter to the Army Air Forces. “In violation of every rule of military procedure and of every concept of human decency, the Japanese have executed several of your brave comrades who took part in the first Tokyo raid,” he lamented. “These men died as heroes. We must not rest—we must redouble our efforts—until the inhuman warlords who committed this crime have been utterly destroyed. Remember those comrades when you get a Zero in your sights—have their sacrifice before you when you line up your bombsights on a Japanese base.”


As recently as the previous March, there had been reliable reports from informants inside China that the lost Doolittle Raiders had been publicly beheaded. No one, save perhaps their families, held out any hope that any of them were still alive.


But now here they were. Chase Nielsen, Robert Hite, and Jacob DeShazer were alive and in Fengtai, of all places. It was miraculous, and Nichols saw to it that the three were booked in as the newest honored guests of the Grand Hôtel des Wagons-Lits, where they spent the next three days talking and singing into the night, eating themselves fat on Irish stew and ice cream, and pocketing the leftovers from the dinner table.


But where was the fourth? Nichols wanted to know, and when the warden claimed that the fourth man was dead, Nichols demanded to see the body.


The warden dutifully fetched the ninety-seven-pound body of George Barr. His feet were the only parts of him where skin was not over bone, and that was only because they had plumped up so morbidly from beriberi. When Nichols got close to him though, he could tell that Barr was still breathing faintly. He ordered the team’s medic over. It did not look as though much could be done, but Nichols ordered the medic to do whatever was possible. The man was a Doolittle Raider.










FOUR


After three days at the Grand Hôtel des Wagons-Lits, Nichols’s team took Nielsen, along with Hite and DeShazer, to an airfield outside Beijing. Barr remained comatose and unsafe to move.


Nielsen found it all hard to believe. There had been so many tricks and false hopes. The rescue, the hotel, the food—it all was just so hard to believe. But there it was on the tarmac: a C-47 “Gooney Bird” with the name Lady Jean painted on its side. It was waiting just for them. They were finally going home.


The first stop on their journey halfway around the world was the Seven Dragons Airport and the US Army’s headquarters in Chongqing, China. As Nielsen stepped unsteadily down the gangplank, he was unaware of what celebrities they had become. But it became clear as reporters and gawkers clamored the moment they set foot on the tarmac.


Nielsen had barely stepped onto solid ground when he was handed a telegram. It was from Thora, the woman who had filled his lonely dreams, welcoming him home. The news that Nielsen was alive, she said, was “the most wonderful news I ever heard in my life.”


It was a hero’s welcome that surpassed even the revelry of the Grand Hôtel des Wagons-Lits. Instead of the barracks, Nielsen, Hite, and DeShazer were invited to stay in the prime minister’s mansion, where they were feted with a feast of roast pork, tomato soup, lemon pie, and cold beer, a beverage Nielsen discretely declined. And to the great envy of every other soldier, sailor, airman, and marine in Chongqing, each of them was given a pass to stay out past the Army’s 11:00 p.m. curfew for a government-sanctioned taste of the nightlife.


It was a lot for Nielsen to take in all at once, even if it was intended with affection. Seeing as much, a colonel from Texas, whose son had been taken prisoner in Italy and had spent nearly a month in solitary confinement, made a point of giving Nielsen some advice. Tell your story as many times as you can, he told him. “That’s the only way to forget.”


By the time the feast was over, Nielsen had told his story so many times, his throat had gone sore. He had not spoken more than a few words above a whisper in more than three years. Now the conversation kept coming. All those years alone in his cell, he had been waiting to talk someone’s ear off. But after a while, before an audience that hung on his every hiccup, he found it hard to say anything at all. And so, with his belly full, he collapsed into a freshly made bed in the prime minister’s mansion at 10:30 p.m., half an hour before his highly coveted curfew pass could have done him any good.


The next morning, he was given a brand-new, freshly pressed airman’s uniform. No matter how deeply he tucked his new shirt into his new pants or how tightly he cinched his belt, the fresh khaki cloth billowed around his skin and bones. As he made his way back out into the crowd, the awkwardness of his oversized uniform only enhanced his heroic image in the eyes of all those who wanted to get their own look at him. He looked like who he was: a man who had suffered for his country.





From the moment he navigated the Green Hornet over Tokyo, Nielsen had known that he had done something extraordinary. But he had had no idea that he had become a legend. While he had been whiling the years away alone in a small Japanese prison cell, the world had become captivated by the story of the Doolittle Raid, and the Doolittle Raiders had become some of the most celebrated Americans of the 1940s.


From its inception, the Doolittle Raid had been a test of impossibility. Japan had existed as an independent nation, seemingly unconquerable, for more than two thousand years. Kublai Khan had been the last foreign invader to get close to putting a hostile foot on its soil. Yet, despite his vastly superior numbers and modern weaponry, including gunpowder, Kublai’s attempted invasion had been foiled in 1281 after his fleet was destroyed by a typhoon that ripped through the Sea of Japan. That freakish weather event was written into Japanese lore as the kamikaze, or “divine wind.” To the militarists who came to dominate Japan’s politics in the 1930s, Japan was divinely ordained to be invulnerable. An attack on the mainland was impossible.


Japan’s hegemony was not simply a national myth. Starting with its expansion into China throughout the late 1930s and its stunning series of victories after Pearl Harbor, which had ousted the United States, Great Britain, France, and the Netherlands from their most prized Asian colonies, the country had ruthlessly spread its defensive perimeter across the continent of Asia to the west and down the archipelagoes to the south. The Soviet Union, to the north, maintained strict neutrality, faced as it was with mounting a counteroffensive against Nazi Germany following Operation Barbarossa, and to the east, the vast Pacific Ocean was a moat that made Japan unreachable. The Japanese did not need to rely upon divine intervention. The brute arithmetic of weight, fuel, and time made them untouchable. But then Jimmy Doolittle shocked the world by making all the numbers add up.


The day of the raid, April 18, 1942, was a Saturday, and within a few hours, news reached President Roosevelt at his home in Hyde Park where he was drafting a fireside chat about wartime inflation. Upon hearing that Japan was burning, Roosevelt giddily called his press secretary, Stephen Early, back in Washington. Mum was the word, Roosevelt instructed him. If any reporter asked, Roosevelt told Early, he should speculate that Japan had been attacked by “Shangri-La,” the Himalayan utopia in Lost Horizon. Early did his part, prompting one reporter to run with the headline “Early Knows ‘Nothing.’ ”


The news that Japan was burning did not stay secret for long. Before the sun had risen on Hyde Park, Japanese radio broadcasts about an attack on Tokyo had made their way around the world and onto the front pages. On April 19, the New York Times ran a multipage spread under the headline “United States Bombers Take the War to the Japanese.”


Everyone wanted to know how the mission had been pulled off. Fueled in part by German broadcasts, which erroneously claimed that the Japanese Navy had sunk a US carrier in the hours around the attack, media analysts speculated that new top secret bombers could take off from aircraft carriers in the Pacific. Others speculated that the attack had been launched from the Soviet Union, which was desperate to maintain its neutrality with Japan and vehemently denied having had anything to do with the raid. Others speculated about the existence of secret air bases hidden inside China or the Philippines.


Roosevelt held his first press conference after the raid on the afternoon of Tuesday, April 21, 1942. When the questions came, he relished the opportunity to tease the reporters with all he knew they knew he knew but would not say.


“Mr. President,” Fred Perkins of the Scripps-Howard News Service asked, “is there any comment you can make on the—on the recent developments in the Southwest Pacific?”


“No,” Roosevelt replied, “I don’t think so, except I can suggest that people shouldn’t believe what they read in certain papers.”


“How about the—the—the—the story about the bombing of Tokyo?”


“Well, you know occasionally I have a few people in to dinner, and generally in the middle of dinner some ‘sweet young thing’ says, ‘Mr. President, couldn’t you tell us about so-and-so?’


“Well the other night this ‘sweet young thing’ in the middle of supper said, ‘Mr. President couldn’t you tell us about that bombing? Where did those planes started from and go to?’ ”


Roosevelt paused and said with a cheeky flourish, “And I said, ‘Yes, I think the time has now come to tell you. They came from our new secret base at Shangri-La!’ ”


The press corps erupted into laughter, most of it genuine. “And she believed it!” Roosevelt said enjoying himself.


“Mr. President,” Perkins asked, “is this the same young lady you talked about—” The press corps again erupted into a squall of laughter.


“No. This is a generic term,” Roosevelt interrupted playfully, feigning his indignation. “It happens to be a woman.” As much as the press corps exercised discretion in what they wrote, they were not beyond ribbing the President for his rakishness.


“Is it always feminine?” May Craig, a reporter from Gannet, interjected, roiling the laughter even louder.


“Now May, why did you ask me that?” May was one of the few female political reporters in Washington and a friend of his wife, the First Lady.


“I wondered.”


“I call it a ‘sweet young thing,’ ” Roosevelt teased her. “Now when I talk about manpower that includes the women, and when I talk about a ‘sweet young thing,’ that includes young men…”


“Would you care to go so far, Mr. President,” Fred Perkins jumped back in, “as to admit that this Japanese…”


“Wait a minute—wait a minute,” Roosevelt interrupted. “ ‘The President Admits’—there’s the headline.” He was not going to say anything and the press corps’ willingness to laugh at each deflection demonstrated its willingness to stay in on the joke. “Go ahead now,” Roosevelt permitted him.


“Would you care to go so far as to confirm the truth of the Japanese reports that Tokyo was bombed?”


“No. I couldn’t even do that. I am depending on Japanese reports very largely.” The laughter continued.


The reporters filed out, and Steve Early, the Press Secretary, bid them all goodbye, “Sweet little things!”


“Steve,” one called out from the departing laughter, “does he mean to imply that Fred Perkins is a sweet little thing?”


When Roosevelt delivered his fireside chat a few days later, he continued to play the fool. After praising the resistance to Nazi and Japanese occupation around the world, he deadpanned, “It is even reported from Japan that somebody has dropped bombs on Tokyo, and on other principal centers of Japanese war industries.” Then, with more feigned disbelief, he said with a chuckle, “If this be true, it is the first time in history that Japan has suffered such indignities.”


Roosevelt’s early unwillingness to tout the raid was, in part, a demonstration of his canny political skills. By withholding information and winking as he pretended it was a secret, he whipped the media into a frenzy. The coverage lasted for weeks. As each detail emerged, the column space devoted to the story of the still mysterious attack from Shangri-La came at the expense of the near-daily setbacks the Allies were experiencing: the Bataan Death March, the establishment of Vichy France, the loss of Burma and the Philippines.


Inside the government, the first word from Jimmy Doolittle came a week later. He was holed up in Quzhou, China, and sent a message through Chiang Kai-shek’s forces: “Bombing mission to Tokyo carried out as planned. Owing to bad weather conditions in China, it is suspected all planes have probably been destroyed or damaged. So far 5 pilots are definitely known to be safe.”


It was miraculous. Unbeknownst to Doolittle or his men, Chiang Kai-shek had refused to set up the promised airstrip. But Doolittle had somehow pulled it off anyway. On the spot, Roosevelt nominated Doolittle for promotion to brigadier general, leaping the rank of full-bird colonel altogether.


Over the next three weeks, Doolittle stayed in China as the rest of the Doolittle Raiders gradually joined him in a cave in Quzhou that he had turned into their rallying point. There was only one confirmed fatality, a sergeant by the name of Leland D. Faktor, who fell into some rocks as he jumped from his plane over China. The crews of the Green Hornet and the Bat Out of Hell, however, remained missing, and it had become increasingly difficult to get reliable intelligence about what had happened to them.


Soon after the raid, Chinese guerrilla forces loyal to Chiang Kai-shek reported that the Japanese had captured the crew of an American airplane that had crashed in occupied territory. Then another intelligence report surfaced, saying that another American airplane had crashed into the ocean seventy-five miles south of Shanghai. The last names of the three captured airmen from that plane—Hallmark, Meder, and Nielsen—were confirmed. But there was no word on the other two crewmen. There was also a rumor that one of them, possibly Nielsen, had been bayoneted while trying to escape.


Doolittle and General Joseph W. Stilwell, the United States’ top commander in China, tried for months to work back channels to ransom Nielsen and the other captured Raiders. But there was no stomach for a deal from anyone in a position to make one. These were the highest-value detainees in Japan’s already vast system of wartime detention, and by early June, it had become clear that no one was willing to take the risks associated with selling them.





At the end of May 1942, Doolittle returned safely to Washington, and the first official details of what soon came to be known as the Doolittle Raid were revealed on the front page of every major newspaper, next to a picture of Roosevelt pinning the Congressional Medal of Honor to Doolittle’s chest. Doolittle became a household name. The hit radio comedian Red Skelton composed the tribute “Not So Dipsy Doolittle.” Warner Bros. optioned the rights to “The Life and Exploits of Jimmy Doolittle.” The author James Hilton, enjoying the sudden uptick in interest in Lost Horizon, told reporters that he wanted to meet Doolittle: “He’s the only fellow who could really tell me what my Shangri-La is like.”


Roosevelt saw to it that all of Doolittle’s men were awarded the Distinguished Service Cross, and newspapers and radio broadcasts around the country breathlessly reported the biographies of any local hero who could claim the mantle of Doolittle Raider.


Nielsen’s family got the news at the same time as everyone else did. Reporters were eager for reactions, and Nielsen’s father beamed, “We’re not surprised that Chase was with the first squadron to raid Japan. And I’ll bet he’s awful happy. He always liked to do things first.” Nielsen was the only Doolittle Raider to come from Utah, and the local papers took particular pride in that fact, in no small part because being from Utah was code for being a Mormon.


The War Department publicly claimed that all of Doolittle’s planes had made it to their destinations in China. But soon after the raid made news, Doolittle sent Nielsen’s family a confidential letter, letting them know that Nielsen had fallen into enemy hands. Doolittle impressed upon them that he was doing everything in his power to get Nielsen out safely, but they had to keep mum because the information was a classified secret.


For Nielsen’s wife, Thora, the stress of that summer was a lot to bear. She fell ill and stayed bedridden well into the fall. Then, in late October 1942, Japanese radio broadcasts released the names of four of the captured Doolittle Raiders, including Nielsen.


The public was shocked to learn that two of Doolittle’s crews had, in the War Department’s bureaucratic euphemism, “gone missing.” The War Department defended itself by claiming that secrecy had been “highly desirable in the hope of saving the lives and securing the freedom of certain crew members who crash landed in areas controlled by the enemy.”


Though it was a relief to have the truth publicly known, for Thora, the news was still grim. Nielsen’s name was only now coming to light because the Japanese Army’s Information Department had mentioned him in a press release announcing that “the American aircrews who attacked Japan proper on 18 April last and who were captured have been severely punished owing to military law, the results of the investigation showed that they disregarded humanitarian laws.”


The outpouring of community support was overwhelming. Utah’s Governor wrote Nielsen’s family a personal note of support, and a few weeks later, Thora accepted her husband’s medals on his behalf in a massive full-dress ceremony organized at Salt Lake City’s air base. She did not know if he was alive or dead but said she was proud of him for being where he had needed to be.


All hope seemed lost on the first anniversary of the Doolittle Raid, when Roosevelt publicly announced that at least some of the Raiders had been executed after being tortured into falsely confessing to war crimes. Thora first heard the news while riding a bus home from her job at the Ogden Quartermaster Depot. All around her, strangers chatted about her husband, her family, her future, and how he had been tortured and executed as if it were just the news of the day. The front pages of all the local papers ran thinly veiled obituaries that began, as every obit does, with the place and date on which the deceased was born. “One of the prisoners presumed to have been put to death,” one read, “was Lieut. Chase J. Nielsen of Hyrum, Utah.”


Of the ten missing Doolittle Raiders, Nielsen was the only married man, and his grieving widow offered a human interest angle that reporters used to froth the coverage. Newspapers around the country ran any photo of Thora they could find, but Thora didn’t want to talk to reporters. She stopped going to her job at the depot and went out of town to stay at her mother’s house. Nielsen’s mother was the only one willing to give the reporters quotes. She refused to believe the news and said as much to anyone who called.


As the years went by, the reporters went elsewhere, but Nielsen’s legacy as a Doolittle Raider became etched in marble. North American Aviation, the company Doolittle had contracted to build his modified bombers, named a B-25 after him. And 20th Century–Fox adapted what little information was known into a sensational courtroom drama in which the torture and execution of the captured Raiders were luridly imagined on the silver screen.


The Purple Heart, released in 1944 along with advertisements for war bonds, opens with Dana Andrews as the fictional pilot Captain Harvey Ross being led with his men into a grand courtroom in Tokyo. Ross demands counsel of choice but is given a feckless Japanese lawyer, who proudly boasts of having gone to Princeton. Ross’s lieutenant snorts back that he went to the City University of New York and breaks into a lengthy argument about the Geneva Conventions. But the presiding Japanese judge, dressed like a character out of the Fu Manchu movies, dismisses their arguments and tells Ross that they have been charged with atrocities.


As Ross and his men protest furiously, the villain of the film appears: General Ito Mitsubi. A smugly grinning salamander of a human being, costumed in Japanese Army khakis and a pencil thin mustache, Mitsubi recounts how the Raiders had taken off from an aircraft carrier in the Pacific and then falsely accuses the Raiders of committing atrocities against Japanese civilians. Mitsubi calls a Chinese collaborator to the stand to fraudulently testify that “They laughed as they told me how they machine-gunned children at play in a schoolyard.”


A controversy erupts, though, when the fictional commander of the Japanese Imperial Fleet objects to General Mitsubi’s version of events. The Imperial Navy, he insists, would never have let an aircraft carrier so close to Japan.


The question of where the Doolittle Raiders had begun their mission becomes the central controversy of the trial, and to prove his case, General Mitsubi subjects one Raider after another to crippling torture. But each man stays mum, refusing to betray the details of the mission. Mitsubi then offers Captain Ross a deal: if he will admit to having taken off from an aircraft carrier, Mitsubi will have the charges dismissed, spare Ross’s men’s lives, and send them all to a prisoner of war camp.


Ross leaves the decision to a secret ballot of his fellow Raiders. Grabbing an oriental vase, he tells them each to drop in his wings. To reject the deal, they are to drop the wings in whole; to take the deal, they are to drop the wings in broken. “If there is one pair of broken wings in this vase,” Ross assures them, “we’ll tell them what they want to know.” One man after another, physically and mentally shattered, approaches the vase and makes his choice.


Not knowing what his men have decided, Ross delivers the vase to the Japanese judge, who plucks the wings out one by one. Not a single pair is broken. The deal rejected, Ross is asked for his final words.


“You can kill us,” he proclaims. “But if you think that’s going to put the fear of God into the United States of America and stop them from sending other fliers to bomb you, you’re wrong. Dead wrong. They’ll come by night, they’ll come by day. Thousands of them. They’ll blacken your skies and burn your cities to the ground and make you get down on your knees and beg for mercy.”


Humiliated, General Mitsubi commits suicide in the courtroom by shooting himself in the chest, and the judge sentences the Raiders to death. Ross and his men march in lockstep from the courtroom to the gallows, heads held high, as the Army Air Forces anthem plays behind them. The credits roll as the anthem reaches the final couplet of its first stanza:




We live in fame or go down in flame. Hey!


Nothing can stop the Army Air Corps!





The Purple Heart played in Ogden along with newsreels about the war and the romantic comedy What a Woman!, starring Rosalind Russell, in the summer of 1944. For Thora, its message was clear: Nielsen was never coming home. He was a martyr to the hated Japanese.


But then that immutable fact changed at the end of August 1945 as dramatically as anything could, and the reporters returned, eager to write the story of long-lost love reunited. Asked for her reaction, Thora gushed, “We have never given up hope that he was all right.”





Now, very much alive and preparing to leave Chongqing for his long-awaited reunion with Thora, Nielsen agreed to sit, along with Robert Hite and Jacob DeShazer, for a press conference. Dressed in new, albeit oversized uniforms, the three of them sat around a wooden table and greeted the assembled press corps, who gawked as if Lazarus had come back from the dead. Every newspaper in the country featured the story.


The reporters asked a barrage of questions: Did their reality live up to the movies? How did they endure all that torture? Why were their lives spared? What was the best thing about being free? Nielsen, hunching forward in his seat with Hite and DeShazer on either side of him, fielded most of the questions with a clarity of mind and a wry sense of humor that was startling under the circumstances.


“Our life rafts, it seemed, were made in Japan,” Nielsen joked as he described crashing off the Chinese coast. “Because they didn’t work.”


Asked about the show trial that had been at the center of The Purple Heart, Nielsen replied, “Our charge and sentence was for bombing non-military objectives and schools and strafing innocent children.” He chortled, then boasted scornfully, lest there be any doubt, “Our targets were bulls’-eyes; we hit oil tanks and factories and I saw them in flames.”


Nielsen got emotional only when asked how he felt now that he was on his way home. The reporters had gotten word of Thora’s telegram and wanted to know what was going through his mind.


“I feel,” he said in a trembling voice that had grown hoarse, “that I’m an American again.”


The only questions Nielsen said he could not answer were the reporters’ questions about the “special treatment” they had received at the hands of the Japanese. He hinted that the gory imaginings washing about in the reporters’ minds were all true but he had been instructed not to disclose the details for security reasons. If he could, he would. He had a story to tell, a story he had been waiting to tell. But the details were now the subject of a war crimes investigation.










FIVE


Nielsen had thought a lot about his revenge. Under torture in Shanghai, only days after his capture, he had imagined getting his hands on a gun and killing every last one of the bastards, regardless of whether he made it out alive or not. George Barr had had the sand to brawl with what seemed like a dozen guards in Nanking, his flaming red hair making him look like a war mad Cúchulainn in full manly fury. The revenge Nielsen always imagined came at the end of a fist or a gun. What he could not have imagined was that when it would be finally offered for real, it would be by a rather professorial lawyer in his late forties who introduced himself as Colonel Young.





Colonel Edward “Ham” Young had grown up in Wisconsin with a lifelong desire to attend the US Naval Academy but had been rejected for being flat-footed. That left him to go to West Point instead, which turned out to be a boon for the Army. Taking the opportunity to get his law degree from New York University, he had become a career military lawyer in the Army’s Judge Advocate General’s Corps, or “JAG Corps,” and had devoted much of his life to making JAGs a respectable part of the legal profession.


One of Young’s greatest achievements had been setting up a new military law school, the Judge Advocate General’s School or “JAG School.” Housed for most of the war on the campus of the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor, Young supervised the education of the thousands of new JAGs who entered the ranks after Pearl Harbor and saw to it that lawyers who graduated from the nation’s top law schools, many of whom had been drafted into the Army, were put onto the faculty.


In December 1944, Young was selected to be the top lawyer for General Albert Wedemeyer, who had just been ordered to Chongqing to replace General Joseph Stilwell as the US commander in the China theater. Stilwell’s relationship with Chiang Kai-shek had become unremittingly bitter. To Chiang, Stilwell was a hotheaded, entitled American. Stilwell would, in turn, describe Chiang as “a vacillating, tricky, undependable, old scoundrel who never keeps his word.”


Other than the professional cachet a career officer earns from a wartime deployment, the transfer to Chongqing was not an obvious step up for someone with Young’s background and ambitions. He was an intellectual, having authored two books on constitutional law, including Constitutional Powers and Limitations, the official textbook at West Point. His leadership of the JAG School had earned him a Legion of Merit and an honorary doctorate from the University of Miami Law School in recognition of his work to bring academic respectability to military law.


Though the position in Chongqing was a deployment, working for Wedemeyer did not offer any real wartime action in which to display valor. After being bombed in the first few years of the war, Chongqing was largely quiet by the time Young got there and had become a tediously political city. Wedemeyer’s primary mission, like Stilwell’s before him, was to engage in endless negotiations over force deployments with Chiang Kai-shek, who resented his dependence on his US allies and was preoccupied with staving off Mao Zedong’s People’s Liberation Army, his long-term rival for control of China.


Still, Young saw a unique opportunity. In February 1945, barely two months into his tour, he worked to establish the China Theater’s War Crimes Office as a partner organization of the War Department’s War Crimes Office in Washington, DC, which had itself been established the previous fall. With China home to some of the most established US Army headquarters in all of Asia, Young’s War Crimes Office had a real chance to be at the center of the Allied war crimes prosecutions in the Pacific.


From the war’s earliest days, there had been talk about prosecuting Axis war criminals, and the Japanese treatment of the Doolittle Raiders was a major driver of public opinion in favor of doing so. After word first surfaced in October 1942 that they somehow had been “punished,” Roosevelt had sent diplomatic inquiries through the Swiss Legation to find out exactly what that meant.


Japan’s Foreign Ministry had responded with a formal communiqué in February 1943 that was full of platitudes about Japan’s obligation to “limit the tragedies of war to a minimum” and claims that the Doolittle Raiders had confessed to bombing with “malice.” Japan, it said, sentenced these “enemies of humanity” to death. However, as a matter of grace, “the sentence of death was applied only to certain accused,” though the Japanese refused to give the names.


In response, the State Department had sent Japan a formal diplomatic protest whose public release was timed to correspond with the one-year anniversary of the Doolittle Raid. “Instructions to American armed forces have always ordered those forces to direct their attacks upon military objectives,” it had insisted. “The American forces participating in the attack on Japan had such instructions and it is known that they did not deviate therefrom.”


“There are numerous known instances,” the diplomatic protest had continued, “in which Japanese official agencies have employed brutal and bestial methods in extorting alleged confessions from persons in their power. It is customary for those agencies to use statements obtained under torture, or alleged statements, in proceedings against the victims.” In closing, it demanded that Japan restore the Raiders to “the full rights to which they are entitled under the Prisoners of War Convention.”


The revelation of the Doolittle Raiders’ fate stoked the public mood for revenge against Japan to a burning intensity unseen since Pearl Harbor. The press used every epithet possible to dismiss Japan’s “ridiculous and monstrous” claim that the Doolittle Raiders had committed atrocities. Congressmen called for the Roosevelt administration to “show no mercy” and promised that “we won’t take many prisoners after that.”


Yet Roosevelt resisted the lusty calls to spill the blood of all Japanese. The Undersecretary of War publicly denounced indiscriminate violence against Japanese prisoners in retaliation. “We have faithfully lived up to our commitments under the Geneva Convention,” he reminded the public. “Reprisals for this act directed against Japanese soldiers who have fallen into our hands would lower us to the level of our enemy without touching the evil individuals who alone are responsible. We shall have our reprisals, but they will be directed against the officials of the Japanese government who instigated these crimes.”


When War Department censors had reviewed the script for The Purple Heart, their main objection had been that the film did not sufficiently show that it had been Japan’s militarists, not its people, who had been responsible for the torture and murder of the Doolittle Raiders. And Roosevelt assured the public not that Japan would be annihilated in fire and fury but that “the American Government will hold personally and officially responsible for these diabolical crimes all of those of the Japanese Government who have participated therein and will in due course bring those officers to justice.”


In the early days of the war, war crimes prosecutions were primarily of academic interest to legal scholars, who advocated “peace through law.” At the time the Doolittle Raiders’ fate was announced, the only actual prosecution the Roosevelt administration had attempted was the trial of some Nazi saboteurs, who had been captured inside the United States and tried before a secret military commission. Though approved by the US Supreme Court, the proceedings had been highly controversial and were not soon repeated.


But as Allied victory seemed more certain in the final year of the war, the rather grandiose notion of actually holding “Tojo and his gang” accountable through war crimes prosecutions seemed increasingly possible. The Allied Translator and Interpreter Section for the South West Pacific Area began cataloging Japanese war crimes and consolidating captured Japanese documents and statements by liberated prisoners of war into lurid accounts of murder, cannibalism, rape, and perfidy.


With the Potsdam Declaration in July 1945, the United States made it known that one of the consequences of Japan’s unconditional surrender would be the prosecution of those who had mistreated prisoners of war. By the following month, the US Army in the Pacific had compiled massive lists of suspected war criminals and potential witnesses. Thousands upon thousands of names were tied to war crimes big and small.


Now, with his own War Crimes Office up and running, Ham Young initiated a public education campaign about war crimes to help build Chinese public support and formulated a plan to send teams of his lawyers and investigators out to Hong Kong, Shanghai, Mukden, and Beijing to build cases, real cases that could be brought to trial in public. But before he put those plans into action, his first big opportunity stepped off a C-47 “Gooney Bird” for a brief stopover in Chongqing.





Nielsen, Hite, and DeShazer sat across from Young and his staff from the War Crimes Office and told their story. Hite and DeShazer explained how they had been on the Bat Out of Hell, the last plane to take off from the USS Hornet, which they had thought would make for good luck, since it gave them the most runway. Things were still tense, though. The wind was blowing so hard that everything was vibrating and a minute or so before takeoff, a sailor had slipped in front of their right propeller and gotten his arm clipped. Hite had a clear image in his mind of the poor wretch squirming on the deck, the blood from his arm perfusing into pink puddles of sea spray.


Despite their shaky start, the takeoff from the Hornet and the bombing run over Japan had gone as smoothly as any of them could have hoped. It had been cloudless open flying all the way to their targets in Nagoya, and the Japanese had put up almost no air defense. Hite had even goaded DeShazer into taking a few shots from the .30-caliber nose gun at some fishing junks around Ise Bay as they made their escape.


The weather got choppier, though, as they approached the Chinese coast. Billy Farrow pulled above the cloud cover as Hite searched for the homing beacon that Chiang Kai-shek had supposedly set up on a landing strip in Quzhou. Hite repeatedly sent out the call—“57”—on the frequency they had been given. But they were met with radio silence.


It did not take long for the fuel tanks to dry up. The navigator, George Barr, estimated that they were about six hundred miles inside China, over Nanchang, a city the Japanese Army had occupied since 1939. They might as well have been in the suburbs of Tokyo, but when the fuel light came on, they were out of options. Farrow gave the order to jump for it.


Hite landed at the edge of a rice paddy, spraining his ankle when he hit the ground. The only light for miles was the fire the Bat Out of Hell had started when it had crashed on the banks of a lake in the distance. Hite thought to himself that he was “10,000 miles away from home and in the rain.” It was the quietest quiet he had ever heard and he tried to comfort himself with the Jimmie Rodgers song “Waiting for a Train” as he wandered through a maze of rice patties in search of safety.


The next morning, he stumbled upon a peasant farmer who seemed happy to help and eventually led him to some kind of “coolie hut,” where Hite was greeted by what seemed like a dozen Japanese soldiers, who came running out with rifles, bayonets fixed. The Japanese soldiers unceremoniously relieved Hite of his .45, loaded him onto a 1938 Ford pickup, and drove him to a schoolhouse that the Kempeitai had requisitioned as its headquarters in Nanchang. The fact that it was a Ford still galled him.


DeShazer was picked up by a Japanese patrol around daybreak, and man by man, the Bat Out of Hell’s five crewmen—William Farrow, Robert Hite, George Barr, Jacob DeShazer, and Harold Spatz—were rounded up and taken to the schoolhouse in Nanchang by morning.


The whole atmosphere in Nanchang was rather festive. Under questioning, DeShazer admitted firing off a few rounds over Japan, but no one seemed to take it all too seriously. Things got dangerous only the next day, when the five of them were loaded onto a cargo plane and taken to the Japanese Army headquarters in Nanking. Each man was bound, blindfolded, and dragged into a different interrogation room, where the questions came impatiently. Where were they from? Who was their leader? What is a “hornet”? Hite was slapped around quite a bit but was macho about it. It was nothing he couldn’t take.


George Barr, the Bat Out of Hell’s navigator, always got the worst of the abuse. Growing up an orphan in Brooklyn had taught him that the best way to handle a schoolyard bully was to punch him in the nose. But Nanking was no schoolyard. Barr had apparently held out during questioning, even as four or five Japanese soldiers had taken turns having a swing at him. Then Barr’s Brooklyn-born fuck-you cool had provoked the bastards to waterboard him.





Young asked Nielsen, Hite, and DeShazer where the rest of the Doolittle Raiders were now, and the honest answer was that they didn’t know. Fitz and Dieter, Nielsen explained, died in the crash. Meder, they explained, had died back in Nanking of beriberi right before Christmas 1943. But as for Hallmark, Farrow, and Spatz, they weren’t sure. DeShazer said he thought they had been taken to a prisoner of war camp in Mukden, China. But Nielsen and Hite were not so sure. The last time they had seen any of them had been back in October 1942, at the headquarters of Japan’s 13th Army in Jiangwan, a place everyone called the Civic Center. That was where the trial had taken place.


For Young, the mention of a trial raised several questions. In The Purple Heart, the Japanese trial of the Doolittle Raiders was a spectacle that spanned days and was witnessed by reporters from across the Axis alliance in one of the grandest courtrooms in Tokyo. But that was just the movies. Young wanted to know what had happened at the real trial. What had been the evidence? Why had it been conducted in Shanghai? And, most important, who had been the mastermind behind it all? Who was the real General Ito Mitsubi?


Again, the truth was that Nielsen, Hite, and DeShazer didn’t know. Everything was a blur. Back in Tokyo, they explained, the Japanese had collected a lot of intelligence about them before shipping them all to Bridge House and then to Jiangwan for their trial. There was one detail that stuck out, though.


Before they all left Tokyo, the Japanese lawyer they all called Well-Well had given them each a little booklet to sign. Nielsen remembered it having been written all in Japanese and Well-Well explaining that it was just a transcript of their interviews. Perhaps those booklets had been used at the trial, but Nielsen was not sure. The trial itself had lasted maybe half an hour, and once it was done, everyone had been sequestered away into cells in the Jiangwan Military Prison, except for Hallmark, who had been sent back to Bridge House.


Things stayed quiet after that until the morning of October 15, 1942, when they had been taken before a second trial, as Nielsen described it, except, unlike in the first trial, Hallmark, Farrow, and Spatz had been missing. There had been some commotion the night before in the prison hallway, cell doors opening and closing. But no one had ever seen them again after that, and no one had ever told them where they had gone.





Nielsen gave Ham Young and his assistants as many details as he could. Pressed for names, Nielsen, Hite, and DeShazer could come up with only a few. The higher-ups had never gotten their hands dirty, and the guards had all seemed to go by nicknames or numbers. At Bridge House, the most physically abusive had been known as “the Big Bad Wolf.” He would randomly scream at prisoners or beat them whenever he felt the inclination. Then there had been the interpreters, such as “Well-Well” in Tokyo. At Bridge House, the interpreter had been “Guard Number 56,” who was a sleazy son of a bitch.


As far as real names were concerned, there was a young guy at Jiangwan the Raiders all remembered as going by the name “Remedios.” Remedios had always been close at hand, and he had always been good for information. Nielsen thought he could probably fill in some of the missing details, since as far as he knew, Remedios still lived in Shanghai. The one name DeShazer remembered for sure was “Tatsuda.” He had been the prison warden at Jiangwan and had been, DeShazer said, “good to the fliers.”


When it came to mistreatment, they all agreed that some places had been worse than others. At Jiangwan, they said, they had been more or less ignored, and to Young’s surprise, they considered their treatment “far superior to that meted out to most Chinese and some Japanese soldiers themselves.”


Hite thought their treatment had been the worst in Tokyo. It had not been as violent as in Nanking. Well-Well had never abused them physically. But he and the other interrogators in Tokyo had known how to get into their heads. They would keep them up for days, questioning them over and over again. There had been no control over anything. Sometimes, Hite said, he had been tied to a chair. Sometimes blindfolded. When he had forgotten something, as inevitably he did, a guard might give him a whack with a belt or a bamboo stick. It had not been hard; just enough to remind him that he was not in control.


Nielsen disagreed. For Nielsen and the other surviving crew of the Green Hornet, Tokyo had been an improvement over what they had experienced that day in the airport in Shanghai. Nielsen lifted his pant leg to show Ham Young the scar that remained across his shin from where the Japanese soldiers had kicked him with their hobnailed boots. He recounted the bamboo pole they had put behind his knees to pull him apart and showed Young the scars in the webbing between his fingers where thin sticks had been jabbed into his nerves.


At Nanking, where they had spent most of the war, the hardest thing had been the isolation and neglect. The prison guards would occasionally be rough with them. But there had been no torture there the way there had been in the first few months after they were captured. The only exception had been the time the guards in Nanking had put George Barr into a straitjacket.


When Young asked for details, Nielsen, Hite, and DeShazer explained that it had been the winter after Meder had died. The four of them had all been out in the yard for daily exercise. The guards had always given them flimsy slippers to wear outside, but it had been hard to run in them, so they had typically just ran barefoot, despite the cold. The bit of snow made the ground muddy, and when Barr came in from the yard, one of the guards had told him to wash his feet off so as not to track dirt inside. Barr had pointed to the faucet inside the gate, but the guard had stopped him and told him to use the snow instead. When Barr made a move toward the faucet, the guard had grabbed him. Barr took a swing and had gotten the son of a bitch right in the nose.


That, of course, had set the rest of the guards onto Barr, who took a few more swings before being wrestled to the ground. Furious, the guards had dragged Barr back out into the yard and tied him up in a straitjacket. They had pulled the straps as hard as they collectively could to squeeze the air right out of him and then dropped him like a sack of bricks onto the same snowy mud that had caused the problem in the first place.


It had been horrible. Barr gasped for breath by the mouthful and yaulped like a dying animal with the little air he had. After about half an hour, the guards had undone the buckles and let him catch his breath. But as soon as Barr had come to his senses, they grabbed him and did it again, yanking the straps as tight as they could. Another half hour had gone by before they had let him out and dragged him back to his cell. Barr was different after that.


As they recounted all this to Ham Young, no one was sure if Barr was still alive. To Nielsen, Barr was yet another one of his brothers in arms who had likely been murdered by the Japanese. In prior wars, there would have been little that could be done to avenge his or any of the other Raiders’ deaths. They would all have just been the tragic costs of victory against a vicious enemy. But Young offered Nielsen something new. Murdering prisoners was a war crime under international law. If they could find the men responsible, Nielsen could have justice; he could see the bastards hanged by the neck.










THE PROSECUTION
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SIX


Ham Young chose a few dozen of the military lawyers available to him in China to work for his War Crimes Office. Some worked full-time, others only part-time. Young, though, had not asked Captain Robert E. Dwyer, which was a conspicuous oversight.


Dwyer had served under Young on the faculty of the JAG School in Ann Arbor. A graduate of Harvard Law School, Dwyer had an intellectual bent that suited Young’s broader ambition of making military law respectable and would have had obvious value given how complicated the war crimes prosecutions were expected to be.


The truth, though, was that Dwyer had a reputation as a bit of a hothead, a brashness that fit his out-of-shape boxer’s build and his massive Irish head. Dwyer looked, drank, and had the temperament of a beat cop, the kind of Paddy who hunted down bar fights to break up in the hopes of getting a few good swings in himself. And brash was not Young’s style.


Dwyer worked in the legal office for the Fourteenth Air Force, the storied “Flying Tigers.” His boss, Lieutenant Colonel John Hendren, Jr., was his opposite in every noticeable way. Though three years younger, Hendren outranked Dwyer twice over. Dwyer came from a family of New York Republicans; Hendren was a New Deal Democrat from Missouri. Dwyer was voluble; Hendren seemed to polish every word before he allowed his mouth to open. Dwyer was balding, paunchy, and a bit of a slob; Hendren was coiffed, square jawed, and always dressed impeccably.


Dwyer and Hendren shared office space on the eleventh floor of the Development Building, a ten-year-old art deco tower on Fuzhou Road in downtown Shanghai. The Development Building had been home to the US Consulate before the war, and the US Army had reclaimed a few of its floors in the middle of October 1945, when General Wedemeyer had relocated his headquarters from Chongqing to Shanghai.


A modern city, famous for its chao nao, its noisy and unceasing assault on the senses, Shanghai had been a foreign city even to the Chinese in the century after the Opium War, when it had been carved into colonial enclaves by the British, French, Americans, and later the Japanese. It had come out of the war largely unscathed, and for someone like Dwyer in the fall of 1945, it was an easy place to get comfortable.


Each morning, Dwyer awoke in his bachelor pad in Broadway Mansions, the city’s twenty-two story landmark hotel. It had opened in 1934 just north of where the photo-ready Garden Bridge crossed the Suzhou Creek, connecting Shanghai’s landscaped riverfront to the south, which locals called “the Bund,” to the northern part of the city known as Japan Town. Depending on his mood, Dwyer could sit for a finely prepared meal in Broadway Mansion’s fifth-floor dining room, which spanned the full length of the building’s southern exposure and was lavishly appointed in gold with brown leather upholstery. Or he could go down to the first floor and sip a drink in the officers’ club, “East Meets West,” under its enormous mural of reclining naked beauty.


Passing through Broadway Mansions’ red-and-gold art deco lobby, Dwyer could expect to be greeted cordially by Chinese bellmen or warmed by the sight of one of the girls at the concierge desk. There was Elsa (a blond German), Minnela (a petite Portuguese), and Elizaveta (a coy Russian). Elizaveta’s sweaters fit so pleasingly to leering American eyes that she came to be universally known as “Sweater Girl.”


Dwyer was ostentatious in his affection for Sweater Girl. The ubiquitous Russian women in Shanghai, nicknamed “Petrushkas,” were synonymous with the sex trade and it was said that every Russian girl was on the prowl to catch an American husband. The editor of the Shanghai Stars and Stripes even printed a bawdy poem entitled, “Three Little Girls,” whose opening verse was:




There were three little girls on Bubbling Well,


Olga and Sonya and Tanya.


They did many things and they did them all well.





The poem was quickly adapted into a hit song in the cabarets, where Dwyer and his brothers in arms could rollick along with a flesh-and-blood Olga, Sonja, or Tonya right beside them. Sweater Girl, however, always deflected Dwyer’s boisterous charms, though somehow with a warmth that kept him returning time and again with flattery and even the occasional gift.


Broadway Mansions offered a mere taste of the city that greeted Dwyer as he stepped out its front doors. “Wine, women and song,” the guidebooks advertised. “Whoopee! Let’s go places and do things! When the sun goes in and the lights come out Shanghai becomes another city, the city of blazing night, a nightlife Haroun Al-Raschid never knew, with tales Scheherazade never told the uxoricidal Sultan Shahryar.”


Shanghai seduced those keen for a taste of the exotic and erotic at a reasonable price. There were discreet parlors hosted by Chinese courtesans dressed in elegant qipaos and loud nightclubs such as the Black Cat, whose Korean “hostesses” sported just-visible black cat tattoos on their buttocks. There was the Red Rose, which offered Russian women and Gypsy music. In Japan Town, there were geisha houses and restaurants that featured Cantonese women, who strolled about barefoot and sang fishing ballads. Walking the streets were countless “jeep girls,” a class of available young women the Chinese called “pheasants,” and at any nightclub, a few dollars could be given to a “taxi dancer,” who would sway in a GIs arms as his one and only for the length of a song.


The fruits of the Orient were all there, candied for easy consumption so that every man who returned to his predictable, moral, and most of all quiet hometown was sodden with memories of Xanadu. General Joseph Stilwell, Wedemeyer’s predecessor in China, had visited Shanghai before the war and mused that “this town would ruin anybody in no time. The babes that twitch around the hotels need attention so badly that it is hard not to give it to them.”


It was an extraordinary time to be an American in Shanghai. Everyone knew it. All around Dwyer were Americans of every rank and service chewing gum, catcalling pretty girls, and providing a regular source of work for the military police. Making his way to his office in the Development Building, which was only two blocks west of the Bund, Dwyer could look up at bespoke American flags flying from buildings that looked as if they had been lifted brick by brick from London, Paris, and New York and built anew on the other side of the world. Those hand-sewn flags might have any random number of stars and stripes, but they left no doubt that the war had yielded a victor and a vanquished. There were a right and a wrong, and those on the winning side could look out at the world unencumbered by doubt, flush with the means to pay, and convinced—not without good reason—that they had landed on the right side of history. The Americans who had arrived in Shanghai in October 1945 were ready to do big things. And Dwyer was with them.


That Dwyer had the chance to stroll down those streets at all was something of a fluke. He was thirty-seven when he was drafted into the Army, a bit old to become a soldier, and had his number not come up, he would probably have still been back in Rochester. His father, E. J. Dwyer, had been a New York State assemblyman and prominent lawyer, which had given Dwyer a certain local notoriety and the expectation that his personal accomplishments and goings on would be regularly featured in Rochester’s gossip columns. His graduation from Harvard Law School in 1930 portended an even brighter future and perhaps a political career on the national stage.


In 1934, Dwyer tried to prove as much by running for his father’s old Assembly seat on the Republican ticket—and lost. He took the defeat hard, though he continued to enjoy being a big fish in a small pond. He built a law practice and remained active in the city’s civic life, even taking a few acting roles in community theater, and remained on Rochester’s most eligible bachelors list even after his physique began to soften.


When he was drafted in August 1942, Dwyer got fitted out for a uniform and served his country along with millions of other young men of his generation, whose coming of age in the Great Depression had made it seem as if living a life smaller than your father’s was just the way things were now going to be. For some of those young men, the happy few, the war offered the chance to be a hero in the most epic drama in human history. Dwyer, though, was not one of those heroic happy few.


Dwyer served the first year of the war in Oakland as a weather observer, before getting himself into Ham Young’s new JAG School in Ann Arbor. For a draftee, becoming an officer and then a law professor was an assignment with an air of prestige, but it meant that Dwyer’s role in the most epic drama in human history was serving on the front lines of a college town, where the deadliest enemy was a winter not all that different from the one back in Rochester.


In December 1944, Dwyer followed Young to China, but the work turned out to be pretty mundane. If airmen got into trouble, Dwyer and Hendren would oversee the court-martial. If a soldier needed a will or wanted to marry a foreign girl, Dwyer and Hendren would help make sure that the desk trolls approved all the necessary paperwork. Like most of the 7 million men who served in World War II, Dwyer’s war stories would have to be borrowed or embellished to be interesting over drinks back in Rochester.





Things changed the day Hendren was asked to take a look at a file containing the evidence the War Crimes Office had collected on what had happened to the lost Doolittle Raiders. Ham Young wanted to know if Hendren thought there was enough there to bring a case to trial and, if so, if he wanted to take it on as the prosecutor. The trial would be conducted before a military commission, a special kind of military tribunal that was like a court-martial, but with rules designed to prosecute war criminals.


The file contained lurid allegations far beyond anything Hollywood had dreamed, and it took little imagination to see that the lawyers who prosecuted Tojo and his gang for that barbarism would be Doolittle Raiders by association. They would see their names written into history as the men who had fulfilled Roosevelt’s personal promise that justice be done.


Young’s choosing Hendren, rather than Dwyer, for such a plum assignment made some sense given how high profile the trial was expected to be. A courtroom defines each person’s role in space by means of overpolished wood. To the left is the defense table. To the right is the prosecution table. To the front is the judge’s bench. To one side is the witness stand. To the other side is the jury box. From the public gallery, separated always by a railing of overpolished wood, all of these distinct roles are dramatized architecturally, and every gap between them where someone might rest their eyes away from the players on this stage, is decorated with ornamentations of authority, prudence, and received wisdom. Tall and graceful, his trousers creased sharp as a blade, Hendren was built from overpolished wood, and if the voice of reason sounded like that of any single man, it was John Hendren’s.


Hendren had been an assistant attorney general back in Missouri and had made something of a name for himself by going after corporate tax cheats. It was the perfect kind of battle on behalf of the public good against corporate greed to help a New Deal Democrat get noticed.


During the war, Hendren had served as an officer in the JAG Corps, mostly in Washington with his wife, Wilmoth, at his side. Wilmoth was a savvy political operator in her own right back in Jefferson City. In 1936, the newspapers had cooed about Wilmoth, the “youngest delegate to the Democratic National Convention—and by all odds the prettiest,” when she made a splash at the convention’s beauty pageant. Wilmoth knew how to politic for her equally photo-ready husband, making sure their goings-on were always in the local society pages. She was an ideal companion in the nation’s wartime capital, which had become engorged by billions of dollars in military spending and a million other itinerant newcomers, all vying for their piece of the action in a company town that lacked New York’s glitz but was obviously where the big things were happening.


Hendren was deployed to China in the same wave of turnover that had taken both Dwyer and Young there the year before, and it did not take long for him to make international news. In January 1945, a B-25 crashed during takeoff in Kunming and flipped into a culvert along the runway. By the time rescue crews got to the crash site, they found the twenty-year-old tail gunner desperately trying to pull himself out of the rear turret. His legs had been crushed by the crumpled metal of the fuselage, which had been ignited by the unused fuel. Six men tried to wrest him free, but it was useless. With the flames getting hotter, the caustic black fuel smoke getting thicker, and the tail gunner’s wails getting more desperate, a lieutenant colonel on the scene drew his sidearm and put two into the poor kid’s head.


Hendren was given the task of representing the lieutenant colonel on murder charges. Strictly on the law and on the facts, Hendren faced an open-and-shut loser; maybe he could avoid the death penalty on the grounds that it had been a mercy killing, but the defendant’s guilt was indisputable. No matter how noble the reason, shooting a defenseless man twice in the head is always a crime. The absolute best Hendren could have hoped for was to get the charge reduced to manslaughter on the ground that the lieutenant colonel had been so distraught at the sight of the poor dying wretch that he hadn’t been in full control of himself when he pulled the trigger.


Undeterred, Hendren ran with the case. Nearly a dozen witnesses testified at the court-martial, including medical experts whom Hendren called to cast doubt over whether the real cause of death had been the injuries the tail gunner had suffered in the crash or the two slugs of lead the lieutenant colonel had put into his brain.


On its face, it was a preposterous defense. It would have been just as plausible to claim that the poor tail gunner had been born with a congenital heart defect that just by coincidence had killed him in the split second between when the lieutenant colonel had drawn his sidearm and when he had pulled the trigger. But coming out of John Hendren’s mouth, doubts about the cause of death just somehow sounded more reasonable. The court-martial wasn’t looking to nail the lieutenant colonel to the wall. Who could blame him? Hendren won a full acquittal.


The Doolittle case, though, wasn’t some splashy court-martial or the rolling up of some Missouri tax cheats. This was applying international law like a criminal code to the highest-ranking members of a foreign enemy government. Every step Hendren took, including all the missteps, would have the rapt attention of the nation, if not the world. Hendren knew he needed a first-rate legal mind with the bullheaded grit to put it all together. So he handed Ham Young’s file to Robert Dwyer to see what he thought.





The file itself was a bit thin. There were no obvious suspects for the worst of what had happened to the Doolittle Raiders. Those known to have had a direct role in the murders of Dean Hallmark, William Farrow, and Harold Spatz were all low-level grunts and functionaries, and, save for Emperor Hirohito, whom no one reasonably expected to be shipped off to Shanghai to stand trial, there was no clear legal theory for charging anyone higher up the chain of command.


The starting point of the investigation had been the three Doolittle Raiders the OSS had rescued the previous summer from Fengtai. Ham Young had written an eight-page report summarizing his interview with Chase Nielsen, Robert Hite, and Jacob DeShazer, and it was grisly stuff. Though the Doolittle Raid was of marquee quality, there was no glamour in the needless suffering those boys had endured. There was nothing Hollywood about dying alone of neglect in some prison cell in Nanking. There was no romance to the waterboard. It was just blunt human cruelty.
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